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OUR  PURPOSE 

To support the Western Australian Industrial 

Relations Commission to provide our community 

with a  means of preventing and resolving 

conflict in respect to industrial matters. 

 
 
 

OUR  VISION 

A professional, innovative organisation 

continually striving to provide the WA 

community with a better service. 

 
 

OUR  VALUES 

Excellence in Customer Service 

Innovation & Continuous Improvement 

Accountability and Integrity 

Respect and Inclusiveness 

Co-operation and Team Spirit 
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

The Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission is a public sector Department established under section 35 of the Public 

Sector Management Act 1994 and is responsible to the Minister of Commerce. The 

Department is accountable to the State Government to ensure ethical and 

transparent decisions are made in performing the primary function of providing 

support to the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission as an 

independent statutory tribunal under the Industrial Relations Act 1979. 

The Department continually strives to assist business, industry and individual 

members of the community to exercise their rights in respect to industrial disputes. 

Throughout 2012/13, the Department continued to improve service delivery to clients 

of the Department of the Registrar and the Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission by ensuring the up skilling of staff and by providing staff with the 

fundamentals of efficient and knowledgeable assistance.  

 
YEAR IN REVIEW: 
 
REGISTRY SERVICES: 

The Registry provides the administrative support and detail for all matters to proceed 

to the Commission.  Registry dealt with 1057 applications this financial year with staff 

consistently providing a high level of customer service, not only to the Commission 

but to the wider community. 

CORPORATE SERVICES: 
 
The Department made substantial progress during the year in addressing the current 
and future needs of its professional workforce, with particular emphasis on safe and 
ethical conduct, learning and employee development, more productive 
accommodation, better customer services and clearer corporate policies and work 
practices. 
 
Extensive planning and development of the Department’s IT infrastructure has been 
undertaken as part of the planned migration to the secure cloud environment later 
this year. 
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A number of significant achievements of the year have included the redevelopment of 

various Departmental operational policies. A detailed Workforce Plan and its 

accompanying Strategic Development Framework were completed for the period 

2012-2015. The framework sets out to raise the Department’s workforce capability 

through a range of training and development programs for all staff. A revised 

Strategic Plan 2012-2016 was also implemented which sets out the values and 

guiding principles by which we operate. 

In addition, the Department’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan (DAIP) and the 

Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) were reviewed.  The revised DAIP identifies the 

strategies and initiatives for the Department for the period 2013- 2018, to provide an 

inclusive and accessible environment for our clients, staff and visitors with disability, 

in accordance with the objectives of the Disability Services Act 1993 (WA). 

The refreshed Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) 2013-2017 provides the framework 

to assist towards addressing the disadvantage experienced by Aboriginal and Torres 

Strait Islander people. The plan seeks to implement practical and affordable 

initiatives including improving employment opportunities, ensuring our service 

delivery is culturally sensitive and promoting a greater understanding of the culture of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. 

CHALLENGES: 

 
This year, has been a particularly challenging year for our small Department due to 
the budget tightening including a reduction in full time equivalent staff numbers and 
the introduction of a cap on salary budgets. I see it as the transitional phase to 
commence a new era for myself and my resilient staff.  
 
In June 2013, the major refurbishment program commenced on the Western 

Australian Industrial Relations Commission (WAIRC) Hearing and Conference rooms.  

Significant improvements to the technology in hearing room and conference room 

facilities will be achieved with an integrated digital court environment. 

However, this substantial disruption has directly impacted on the Members of the 

Commission who have graciously listed matters off site to accommodate the 

refurbishment schedule. 

Temporary conference rooms have also been created across the Department, 

together with hearing and conference rooms being provided from Department of the 

Attorney General, Administrative Appeals Tribunal and the Fair Work Commission. In 

addition, the Industrial Magistrate relocated to the Central Law Courts for the duration 

of the refurbishment.  All work is expected to be completed by October 2013. 
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On 14 November 2012, the Government tabled in Parliament a draft Bill to reform the 

State industrial relations system. The draft Labour Relations Legislation Amendment 

and Repeal Bill 2012 was tabled as a Green Bill and made available for public 

comment. In summary, the role of the Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission is being streamlined to broadly harmonise with the Federal industrial 

relations system under the Fair Work Act 2009. The end product will be that the 

functions and role of the Department of the Registrar will be more efficient and 

distinct for those involved with Commission proceedings.  

I look forward to collaborating further with the Department of Commerce, who has 

carriage of the Bill, to affect a robust and crystallised state industrial relations system.  

During the year, a number of external parties including independent statutory 

authorities and Boards of Inquiry have accessed our court, conference and chamber 

facilities. The most significant of these was the St Andrew’s Hostel Inquiry (Jan to 

Dec 2012) and more recently, the Canning Inquiry (March 2013 for up to a 12 month 

period). The Department has welcomed these opportunities in providing infrastructure 

and support to these bodies to assist them to meet their obligations under their 

Terms of Reference.  

Maintaining and supporting the effective resourcing and operation of the Commission 

is our first priority. However, we are also examining ways to encourage access to 

Commission facilities by external parties (for matters not related to Commission 

business). With the refurbishment program providing the latest in court technology, 

we can offer private and public sector clients a “state of the art” court and conference 

room environment to conduct their business.   

I would like to acknowledge and thank all staff for their ongoing dedication and hard 

work in continuing to improve the standard of service we provide. All staff should be 

proud of their ongoing level of support to the Commission and myself, and in 

particular their flexible, positive outlooks throughout a highly transitional year, in 

particular their perseverance and patience during the refurbishment disruptions.  

To that effect, I would also thank the Department of the Attorney General, the 

Administrative Appeals Tribunal and the Fair Work Commission for offering their 

facilities during the works.  

I am excited to look to the future of our Department and the many stimulating 

challenges to come. I hope our goal to continuously improve our services standards 

to the Commission and to all clients comes to fruition, based upon solid relationships 

and ongoing collaboration.  
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Finally, the Department worked with the former Minister of Commerce, Hon Simon 

O’Brien MLC almost the entire year. I acknowledge his leadership and support and 

we look forward to working with and developing a productive relationship with new 

Minister the Hon Michael Mischin MLC. 

  
SUSAN BASTIAN 

ACTING CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
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THE DEPARTMENT 

The Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission was created in 1989, emerging from other Departments; firstly the 

Crown Law Department in 1964, then the Department of Labour and Industry in 

1989.   

 
ENABLING LEGISLATION  

The Department of the Registrar is a Department established under Section 35 of the 

Public Sector Management Act 1994.  

RESPONSIBLE MINISTER 

The Department of the Registrar is responsible to the Minister for Commerce. 

LEGISLATION ADMINISTERED  

The Department of the Registrar does not administer any legislation.  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

The Acting Chief Executive Officer, Susan Bastian, is also the Accountable Authority 

for the Department, as prescribed in section 52 of the Financial Management Act 

2006. 

As in previous appointments, Ms Bastian is also statutorily appointed as the Registrar 

of the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission.  

MISSION STATEMENT 

The Department’s mission is: 

“to support the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission to provide 

our community with a means of preventing and resolving conflict in respect to 

industrial matters”.  

WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

This report does not deal with the Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission because that tribunal is an independent statutory tribunal and is 

separately accountable to Parliament via an annual report provided to Parliament by 

the Chief Commissioner. 
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LEGISLATION IMPACTING ON THE DEPARTMENT’S ACTIVITIES 

In the performance of its functions, the Department complies with the following 

legislation and instructions: 

 Auditor General Act 2006 

 Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003 

 Disability Services Act 1993  

 Equal Opportunity Act 1984  

 Financial Management Act 2006  

 Freedom of Information Act 1992 

 Industrial Relations Act 1979 

 Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951 

 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993  

 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984  

 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 

 Premier’s Circulars 

 Public Sector Commissioner’s Instructions  

 Public Sector Management Act 1994  

 Public Sector Standards in Human Resource Management 

 Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  

 State Records Act 2000 

 State Supply Commission Act 1991 

 Treasurer's Instructions 

 

CONTACTS 

Office Address Postal Address Telephone Fax 

Level 16 

111 St Georges 

Terrace Perth   

WA    6000 

Locked Bag 1 

Cloister’s Square 

Perth   WA   6850 

9420 4444 9420 4500 

    

Internet:  

http://www.wairc.wa.gov.au/dotr 

webmaster@wairc.wa.gov.au 

 

  

http://www.wairc.wa.gov.au/dotr
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BEST PRACTICE AGENCY FOR THE TENTH CONSECUTIVE YEAR 

For the tenth consecutive year, the Department was acknowledged by the Office of 

the Auditor General as having met the criteria for a Best Practice Agency.  In the 

current year, it was assessed as a Best Practice Agency among the Top 20 smaller 

agencies.  

The award acknowledges the following: 

 clear opinions on our financial 

statements, controls and key 

performance indicators 

 our financial statements and key 

performance indicators are of  good 

quality and are supported by reliable 

working papers and were submitted 

for audit within the agreed timeframes 

 key staff were readily available during 

the audit process 

 attention given to addressing 

management control issues raised by 

Audit 

 an internal audit function that was an 

effective corporate governance tool 

for us and 

 an annual report that was tabled 

within 90 days of end of financial year.  

This could not have been achieved without 

the dedication and commitment from the 

Corporate Services team.  

Reference Library                                        
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ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

The Department has continued its focus on achieving energy and water savings over 

the last year by examining ways to contribute positively to the environment. We are 

committed to responsible energy management and try to incorporate the principles of 

sustainability in all planning, decision making and implementation. 

This issue is a standing item for consideration at monthly Management meetings 

which includes review of energy consumption when compared with historical data.  

Utilising energy efficient technology and using existing equipment more efficiently has 

provided significant long term savings. All computer purchases are aligned to our 

‘Green IT’ policy and a major consideration for all purchases is the energy efficiency 

of devices. Several older multi-function devices have been decommissioned and the 

workload spread over other more efficient devices in our fleet. Over the last two 

years, we have virtualised 80% of our server environment. This has resulted in 

considerable savings on equipment hardware and associated running costs. We will 

continue to examine ways to provide an integrated organisation-wide response to 

energy conservation thereby reducing our energy footprint.  

 
AWARD UPDATING  
 

The Registry Services Branch continued to provide timely support both to the 

Commission and to the community that allowed for the expeditious publishing of 

Award variations, Agreement variations and new Agreements. The Department 

utilised accuracy, timeliness and attention to detail combined with improved 

technology to produce this valuable service that supports the Commission in ensuring 

fewer industrial relations disputes. 

The 2013 State Wage Case implemented an $18.20 per week increase to adult base 

rates of pay. The Department of the Registrar provided support to the Commission by 

calculating and applying these increases. As at 30 June 2013, there were 254 

awards in force and 238 of these were affected by the 2013 State Wage Order. Most 

of the rates adjustments are now fully automated. 

In addition, the 2013 Location Allowance General Order issued on 12 June 2013, 

which varied the provisions within 86 Awards and 87 Agreements. Both the State 

Wage Order and the Location Allowance General Order took effect on 1 July 2013.  

The Department ensured that all of the relevant clauses within the current Awards 

and Agreements were amended correctly and uploaded to our website for public 

access by that date. 
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OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 
 

The Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission, is one of those few Departments which have been established for a 

primary purpose of providing support to a statutory tribunal, independent of 

government. While the Department is accountable to government, most of its work is 

for purposes which are non-accountable to government. Therefore managing 

government desired outcomes while protecting the independence of the Commission, 

requires complex and efficient decision making and integrity.  

The Department has adopted sector-wide priorities which are supported by agency 

level outcomes and delivery of services to achieve those outcomes. The Government 

goals are: 

State Building – Major Projects 

Building strategic infrastructure that will create jobs and underpin Western 

Australia’s long term economic development. 

Financial and Economic Responsibility 

Responsibly managing the State’s finances, through the efficient and effective 

delivery of services, encouraging economic activity and reducing regulatory 

burdens on the private sector. 

Outcomes Based Service Delivery 

Greater focus on achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit 

of all Western Australians. 

Stronger Focus on the Regions 

Greater focus on service delivery, infrastructure investment and economic 

development to improve the overall quality of life in remote and regional areas. 

Social and Environmental Responsibility 

Ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally 

responsible manner for the long-term benefit of the State. 
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The Department’s mission is: To support the Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission to provide our community with a means of preventing and resolving 

conflict in respect to industrial matters. 

Our Agency level desired outcome: The prevention and resolution of industrial 

relations matters supports the Government goal: Financial and Economic 

Responsibility. 

 

Government Goal 
Agency Level 

Desired Outcome 
Services 

Key Effectiveness/ 
Efficiency Indicators 

Financial and 

Economic 

Responsibility: 

Responsibly 

managing the 

State’s finances 

through the efficient 

and effective 

delivery of services, 

encouraging 

economic activity 

and reducing 

regulatory burdens 

on the private 

sector. 

The prevention 

and resolution of 

industrial relations 

matters 

 

Service 1:   Support 

to the Western 

Australian Industrial 

Relations 

Commission and 

Industrial Magistrates 

Court. 

 

 

 

 

 

Service 2:   

Conciliation and 

Arbitration by the 

Western Australian 

Industrial Relations 

Commission 

(WAIRC).   

Key Effectiveness 

Indicators 

 Timeliness of services 

 Accuracy and 

relevance of 

documentation and 

information 

 

Key Efficiency 

Indicator  

 Average cost per 

application  

 

N/A 

Service 2 represents the 

activities of the 

independent Court and 

Tribunal. The WAIRC 

relies on the Department 

to manage and report its 

financial affairs, but is 

not subject to any form 

of operational control or 

reporting requirements 

by either the Department 

or Government. The 

Commission reports 

directly to Parliament via 

an annual report by the 

Chief Commissioner. 
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Broadly, high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific 

desired outcomes. Agencies deliver services to achieve these desired outcomes 

which ultimately contribute to meeting the higher level government goals. The table 

on the previous page illustrates the relationship between agency level desired 

outcomes and the government goal it contributes to. The key effectiveness indicators 

measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the achievement of 

desired outcomes. The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between the 

service delivered and the resources used to produce the service. 

The Department contributes to the Government’s strategic goal by ensuring the 

Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission has the necessary resources to 

effectively prevent or resolve disputes between employers and employees.  With an 

effective and efficient means to resolve employment relationship conflicts, the 

community is able to devote its means of production more directly to opportunities for 

investment and growth leading to greater wealth for Western Australians.  

An independent and effective Industrial Relations Commission is essential to a 

vibrant and thriving economy 

 
CHANGES TO OUTCOME BASED MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK 

There were no changes to the Agency level outcomes during 2012-13. 

 

SHARED RESPONSIBILITY WITH OTHER AGENCIES 

The Department of the Registrar did not share any responsibilities with other 

agencies in 2012/13. 

 

 



AGENCY PERFORMANCE 

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE 

17 

The table below shows the Department’s financial performance of actual results 

versus budget targets for the year:  

 

ACTUAL RESULTS TO 

BUDGET TARGETS 

2012/13 

  TARGET*  

$’000 

2012/13 

ACTUAL 

$’000 

 

VARIATION 

$’000 

TOTAL COST OF SERVICES 

(i.e. Endorsed expense limit) 
12,038 10,283 1,755 

NET COST OF SERVICES 

(Details in the Income Statement) 
11,958 10,255 1,703 

TOTAL EQUITY 

(Details in the Balance Sheet) 
3,147 5,563 2,416 

NET INCREASE/ (DECREASE) 

IN CASH HELD 

(Details in Cash Flow Statement) 

(531) 620 1,151 

 

 

NUMBER OF (FTE) STAFF 

FULL TIME EQUIVALENT (FTE) 

STAFF LEVEL 
53 45 8 

* As specified in the 2012/13 Budget Statements 

The Total Cost of Services and Net Cost of Services have been lower due to 

Department of Treasury corrective measures introduced during the year reducing 6 

FTEs. The recoup of some of the rent reduced the accommodation expense for the 

year. 

Further explanations for significant variances are presented in Note 25 ‘Explanatory 

Statement’ to the financial statements.  
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KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 

Percentage of employers, employees, representatives and Commission members 

satisfied with the service provided by the Department of the Registrar in relation to 

timeliness and accuracy and relevance of information. 

The government requires that there be an effective means for preventing or resolving 

employment disputes between employers and employees. It established the 

Commission for this purpose and the Department of the Registrar is required to 

ensure the Commission has necessary resources to achieve its purpose. 

The quality of the service provided by the Departmental officers significantly affects 

the ability of the Commission to effectively perform its role. The services provided to 

the Commission include Registry services, support staff, administrative services and 

infrastructure facilities. 

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 

 

2012/13 

TARGET(1) 

 2012/13 

ACTUAL 

VARIATION 

TIMELINESS 90% 89% (1%) 

ACCURACY AND RELEVANCE OF 

INFORMATION 

90% 90% Nil 

Timeliness is a key indicator as it demonstrates that the systems, procedures and 

resources are in place to deliver a reasonable and acceptable level of service to the 

community. It is crucial that our business is conducted accurately because it then 

aids the Commission in performing its role efficiently. 

We fell marginally (1%) below our target of 90% for the Key Effectiveness Indicator of 

Timeliness. However, this was an improvement of 3% as compared to 2011/12 

actuals. The target for Key Effectiveness Indicator of Accuracy and Relevance, for 

current year was met and was 6% higher than that in 2011/12.  
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 
 

Service 1: Support to the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission 

and Industrial Magistrates Court. 

The measure of efficiency is identified as: The average cost per application 

registered and recorded. 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 

 

2012/13 

TARGET(1) 

 2012/13 

ACTUAL 

VARIATION 

AVERAGE COST PER APPLICATION $7,957  $4,164  $3,793 

The cost per application is derived by dividing the total cost by the number of 

applications received. This measure is largely determined by legislation and the 

Department has no capacity to influence the number of applications lodged. 

The significant decrease in the cost per application for 2012/13 as against the 

2012/13 target, is primarily due to an increase in the number of applications received 

during the year, as a consequence of changes in the prosecution jurisdiction. 

Notwithstanding the number of applications received, there has to be a minimum but 

efficient level of infrastructure in place regardless of  the number of applications 

received. 

More detailed information and trends in regards to our Performance Assessment is 

detailed in certified Key Performance Indicators statement. 
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REGISTRY 

The primary function of the Registry Services Branch involves the provision of 

administrative support to the Commission. This includes the processing of 

applications and associated documentation for matters before the Commission, 

including matters before the Full Bench, the Commission in Court Session, the 

President, Constituent Authorities and related Tribunals. The Branch also provides 

administrative support to the Western Australian Industrial Appeal Court, and to the 

Western Australian Industrial Magistrates Court. In addition, Registry Services 

officers provide timely and accurate customer service and procedural advice to 

external clients of the Commission. 

Registry Services comprises a number of work areas within the Branch, including: 

 Registry; 

 Records; 

 Publications 

(Western Australian 

Industrial Gazette); 

 Policy and Project 

Development; and  

 Awards.        Registry counter 

 

Registry Services staff continued cross-training and multi-skilling across multiple 

work areas. They have been proactive and positive in this regard, and are utilising 

the opportunities to broaden their existing skill sets, while learning and developing 

new skills and knowledge. 

Staff and management within the Branch have maintained the Department’s ongoing 

commitment to continuous improvement, and strive to provide excellent customer 

service to the Commission’s customers, both internal and external, and to the 

broader community. Our positive relationships with stakeholders continue to grow. 
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INDUSTRIAL MAGISTRATES COURT 

 General Jurisdiction 

Industrial Magistrates exercise general jurisdiction powers under the Industrial 

Relations Act 1979, the Workplace Relations Act 1996, and the Fair Work Act 2009.  

The regulations applicable to the Industrial Magistrates Court (IMC) are the Industrial 

Magistrates Court (General Jurisdiction) Regulations 2005 (the Regulations).   

Under its general jurisdiction, the IMC deals with claims which allege breaches of 

industrial instruments, and the enforcement of Commission Orders. Industrial 

instruments include Acts, awards (State and Federal) and agreements (State and 

Federal).   

In addition to the matters outlined above, as a result of amendments to the 

Construction Industry Portable Paid Long Service Leave Act 1985 in April 2012, 

related matters previously dealt with in the Magistrates Court of Western Australia, 

now fall within the general jurisdiction of the IMC. Amendments were consequently 

made to the Regulations on 1 August 2012. The broadening of the IMC’s general 

jurisdiction in this regard has resulted in a significant increase in the number of claims 

brought before the Court. 

 Prosecution Jurisdiction 

Industrial Magistrates also exercise powers under the IMC’s prosecution jurisdiction 

in accordance with the Criminal Procedure Act 2004, constituted as a court of 

summary jurisdiction. 

Support to Jurisdiction  

The Department of the Registrar provides administrative support to the IMC by way 

of a public Registry, and dedicated Registry Services support staff who deal with the 

lodgement of documents and customer enquiries. Registry Services staff also provide 

assistance to the Industrial Magistrate and the Clerk of the Court during proceedings 

before the IMC.   

The Clerk of the Court is an officer of the Department of the Registrar, appointed as 

such, who conducts pre-trial conferences, and where required, programs matters for 

trial. 
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INDUSTRIAL MAGISTRATES COURT (CONTINUED)  
 

Claims lodged this year 206 

Complaints lodged this year 16 

Claims and Complaints resolved this year 178 

Claims and Complaints lodged and resolved this year 156 

Claims and Complaints resolved this year, but lodged in 

a previous financial year 22 

Claims and Complaints pending 69 

Total number of penalties imposed 35 

Total value of penalties imposed $       61,150.00  

Total number of Claims resulting in awarding of 

disbursements 4 

Total value of disbursements awarded $            180.00  

Total number of Claims resulting in awarding of wages 9 

Total value of wages awarded $     102,661.85  

 

 



AGENCY PERFORMANCE 

COMMISSION SERVICES  

23 

 

AWARD REVIEW 

The Registry Services Branch provides information and assistance to the 

Commission and is responsible for the maintenance of electronic Awards and 

Agreements. Consolidated copies of the Commission’s Awards and Agreements, as 

well as orders and decisions of the Commission, are available on the Commission’s 

website. 

Registry Services processed 54 applications for new Agreements, and 60 

Agreements were cancelled, replaced or superseded. There were no applications for 

new or cancelled awards in the 2012-2013 financial year.  

The Registry also dealt with Award and Agreement enquiries and provided 

procedural assistance to enquirers on how to locate information about historical 

award provisions. The types of enquiries ranged from obtaining historical rates for the 

purposes of calculating underpayment of wages claims, workers’ compensation 

claims, academic research, child support obligations and disputed estate claims.  

 
GENERAL ORDERS 

Two General Orders were issued by the Commission this year, being the 2013 State 

Wage Order and the 2013 Location Allowance General Order. Registry Services 

conducted preparatory work and consulted with relevant parties regarding the content 

and application of the Location Allowance General Order, as well as applied the new 

allowances to the relevant Awards and Agreements.   

Registry Services also assisted the Commission in the production and application of 

the 2013 State Wage Order. Diligent work by staff ensured the newly adjusted pay 

rates were available to relevant parties for their feedback in a timely manner, and that 

the Awards and Agreements on the Commission’s website reflected the new 

allowances and pay rates by the effective date of 1 July 2013. The adjusted pay rates 

were also prepared as schedules to be published as an additional sub-part in the 

August edition of the Western Australian Industrial Gazette. 
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WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL GAZETTE 

Section 93 of the Industrial Relations Act 1979 requires the Registrar to publish an 

Industrial Gazette containing the matters prescribed in Schedule 1 of the Industrial 

Relations Act 1979 which includes all decisions and reasons for decision of:   

 

 the Court 

 the Full Bench  

 the President 

 the Commission 

 Industrial Magistrates and  

 Boards of Reference. 

 

During 2012/2013, 14 editions of the Gazette 

and 2 Appendices, totalling 2,368 pages 

were prepared ‘in-house’ by the gazette 

staff.   

All the Gazettes and Appendices were 

produced on time, according to the 

schedule of production set by the 

Registrar and State Law Publisher. 

 
 
  

Industrial  

Gazette  

Publications  

since 1901 
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EMPLOYER EMPLOYEE AGREEMENTS 
 

Employer Employee Agreements (EEAs) were first introduced in September 2002.  

EEAs allow an employer and employee to negotiate their own employment 

arrangements, subject to a number of checks, including a requirement that the EEA 

pass a No Disadvantage Test (NDT). The NDT is intended to ensure that the 

employee is not, on balance, disadvantaged in relation to the terms and conditions of 

employment when compared to the relevant award. EEAs that meet these checks are 

registered by the Registrar.   

The table below identifies statistics in relation to EEAs:  

 

 20010/11 2011/12 2012/13 

EEA’s meeting lodgement 
requirements 

2 5 3 

EEAs not meeting lodgement 
requirements 

0 1 0 

Total number received in period 2 6 3 

 

Refused  0 1 1 

Registered 1 3 2 

Withdrawn 1 1 0 

Total number of EEAs finalised in 
period 

2 5 3 
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RIGHT OF ENTRY CARDS 
 
The Labour Relations Reform Act 2002 (which amended the Industrial Relations Act 
1979   (IR Act)), established a system permitting nominated union officials a “Right of 
Entry” to workplaces. The system requires that an authorised person carry an identity 
card issued by the Registrar, which permits entry to workplaces for specified 
purposes. 
 
The following rights (subject to certain conditions) are conferred on an authorised 
representative of an organisation (union) under the IR Act: 
 

 the right to enter, during working hours, any premises where relevant 
employees work for the purpose of holding discussions at the premises with 
any of the relevant employees who wish to participate in those discussions (s. 
49H(1) of the IR Act); 

 

 the right to enter, during working hours, any premises where relevant 
employees work, for the purpose of investigating any suspected breach of the 
IR Act, the Long Service Leave Act 1958, the Minimum Conditions of 
Employment Act 1993, the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984, the 
Mines Safety and Inspection Act 1994 or an award, order, industrial 
agreement or employer-employee agreement that applies to any such 
employee (s. 49I of the IR Act); and 

 

 the right to inspect records and other documents (s. 49I of the IR Act). 
 
A “relevant employee” is an employee who is a member of, or eligible for 
membership of, the relevant union. 
 
The Registrar maintains a register of authorised representatives which is available on 
the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission’s website 
(www.wairc.wa.gov.au).  
 
There have been 1444 Right of Entry permits issued since 2002, of which 390 
permits are still current. This includes 104 permits that were issued during the 
2012/13 financial year. 
  

http://www.wairc.wa.gov.au/Pages/Organisations/OrganisationsAgents.aspx?showtable=rightofentry
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REGISTERED ORGANISATIONS 
 
The Registry maintains electronic copies of the rules of registered organisations in 
Western Australia as outlined in the Industrial Relations Act 1979 (IR Act), and 
provides assistance and advice to registered organisations (unions and employer 
organisations) in relation to their rights and obligations under the IR Act, specifically 
in relation to registration, obligatory information reporting, proposed changes to rules, 
elections and other matters as detailed in sections 52 to 80 of the IR Act. 
 
The delegated Deputy Registrar provides administrative and technical support to the 
President and Full Bench of the Commission in relation to these issues, together with 
timely and accurate information to organisations on the requirements of the IR Act 
and the Industrial Relations Commission Regulations 2005. 
 
The Registrar continues to monitor and review the extent to which registered 
organisations are meeting their legislative obligations and responsibilities under the 
Industrial Relations Act and their registered rules. Departmental 
staff have continued to work with and assist organisations to 
better meet legislative compliance. As a result of these 
efforts, a number of organisations have filed 
applications for cancellation of registration, 
amalgamation of more than one organisation, 
alteration of organisational rules and 
addressed other non-compliant operational 
issues.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Historic ledgers of 

registered organisations  
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The Corporate Services Division provides business support to the Department and 

the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission in the areas of Finance and 

Administration, Human Resources, Information Technology and Library Services.  

FINANCE AND ADMINISTRATION 

The Finance and Administration section provides service and support in the 

administration, procurement, budgeting and financial management and accounting 

functions for both the Department and the Commission. 

The section aims to achieve best practice standards in all its procurement and 

purchasing. It ensures public sector standards are maintained and that all 

transactions are accountable and transparent. Adherence with the Financial 

Management Manual ensures effective compliance and that internal financial controls 

are maintained at a high standard. 

With the decommissioning of the Department of Finance – Shared Services, the 

finance and procurement system of the Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) System 

used by Shared Services, will be transferred to a new Departmental financial 

management information system by November 2013. In the meantime, our finance 

staff continue to work with staff from Department of Finance in relation to these 

matters.  

Finance and Administration has a dedicated team of five staff. It is a committed and 

proactive team providing timely information and high quality service and has received 

ongoing commendations for this.   

The Department has been acknowledged for the tenth consecutive year, by the 

Office of the Auditor General as meeting Best Practice standards in finalisation and 

presentation of the financial statements and the key performance indicators. The 

Finance and administration team has directly contributed to this achievement.  
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HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT 
 

Human Resources continue to contribute to the business outcomes of the 

Department by providing management services across workforce, strategic, 

operational and cultural areas. 

Significant activities during the year included: 

 Strategic Plan  

This year saw the introduction of a new Strategic plan 2012-2016 which was 

completed in November 2012. The plan outlines the values and guiding principles by 

which we operate. It also sets out key objectives and strategies which will ensure the 

Department’s vision of providing professional, innovative service delivery, within a 

challenging and changing environment is achieved.  

 Workforce Management Plan 

The Department’s Workforce and Diversity Plan for 2012-2015 was developed 

utilising an external consultant and in conjunction with managers in the Workforce 

Planning Group. The plan sets out clear objectives to manage our workforce through 

to 2015. The plan will assist the Department to position itself to achieve the goals 

established in the Strategic Plan. 

The plan estimates the future needs and current makeup of the Department’s 

workforce, assesses the gaps and proposes actions to address these needs. 

The strategic initiatives which have been identified to achieve the objectives include: 

 Identify and analyse the Department’s current skills mix and needs and 

develop and employ staff accordingly 

 Implement the Performance Management Program across the agency and 

ensure a six monthly review cycle for all employees 

 Establish a Succession Planning Program for Tiers 2 and 3 

 Ensure a whole of agency focus on staff development and the link to 

workforce planning 

 Maintaining currency in technology development through training and 

development opportunities 

 Improved reporting of HR Workforce metric data to monitor progress of 

initiatives 
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These and other strategies will be monitored and actioned to ensure the planned 

outcomes are achieved. 

 Accountable and Ethical Decision Making Training (AEDM) 

In house training was provided to all staff in two full day sessions to raise awareness 

of their responsibilities and accountability for their actions. The AEDM participant’s 

handbook was provided to each employee and placed on the Intranet for future 

employees. All new staff are required attend AEDM Public Sector training sessions 

as part of their induction. 

 Multi-Cultural Awareness 

All employees completed the Diverse WA multicultural online training module for 

working with people from culturally and linguistically diverse backgrounds. This 

awareness assists staff to provide better customer service across diverse groups. 

 Staff Survey 

A staff survey was provided to employees to encourage feedback, ideas and 

initiatives to improve the provision of Human Resource services. 

 Policy Compliance review 

Various policies were reviewed and amendments were made to the Recruitment and 

Selection Policy and Code of Conduct, to ensure currency with Public Sector 

Commissioner’s Instructions. The Code of Conduct requires a statement of 

understanding to be signed by all employees. This will be an annual requirement for 

all staff in the future. The Code of Conduct is provided at induction for all new 

employees. 

New policies were developed for Discipline Management and Process, Personal 

leave, Leave without Pay and Secondary Employment. 

All this information has been conveyed to staff and is available on the Department’s 

Intranet. 

 Training and Development 

This year the Department provided continued development for our trainee who 

commenced a Certificate IV Business Administration Traineeship.  

The trainee is undertaking a program of rotation throughout the Department’s 

business units and progressing successfully through the traineeship.  
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Specific development opportunities and training requirements for staff were identified 

through the Performance Development Program and in accordance with the 

Workforce Plan initiatives. During the year, staff attended training courses, seminars  

and conferences. 

 Payroll Cluster Group 

The Department formed a payroll cluster with four other small agencies to utilise the 

payroll database. The Department continues to play a lead agency role. While each 

agency maintains an individual payroll process, the database is maintained by the 

Department. Considerable costs savings are achieved in the maintaining currency of 

the Human Resource Management System and charging of payroll provision service 

costs. 

 

Specific information regarding employee demographics is contained on pages 95-97. 
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INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY   

The Information Communication Technology (ICT) section has continued to support 

services to the Department of the Registrar and the Western Australian Industrial 

Relations Commission (WAIRC).  

This year has seen a major shift towards modernising our core Court infrastructure 

and as part of a wider Court Refurbishment project we have invested substantial 

technology into the project to ensure that our courtrooms not only meet current 

requirements but set us as firm leaders in the court environment well into future 

years.  

Significant achievements this financial year have been:  

 Decommissioning the remaining of our aging server infrastructure and 

replacing it with virtualized systems. This has paved the way to enable us to 

cost effectively look at transitioning our core infrastructure into the Cloud 

environment. This project is currently underway and will be completed in the 

second half of 2013/2014 financial year. 

 

 We have strengthened our core capabilities to enable us to host another 

government inquiry which is currently underway. 

 

 Enhanced our 24/7 monitoring and alerting of all our core infrastructure 

 

 We have transitioned our aging PABX telephone system into a cloud based 

hosted solution delivering a much improved service and functionality for the 

commission at a reduced cost in comparison to the old system. 

Employment opportunities in the private sector continue to be a challenge  

and have lead us to replace further IT positions with temporary contract services. 
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LIBRARY 

The role of the Western Australian Industrial 

Relations Commission Library is to maintain and 

provide a comprehensive industrial and 

legislative library and information service for the 

Commission members and staff.   

The Library provides a current, accurate and 

timely information service through its reference 

and research service, and through the 

maintenance and development of the Library’s 

collection.               WAIRC library 

During the 2012/13 year the Library staff handled approximately 200 reference 

requests.  These requests were received from Commissioners, Departmental staff 

and the public. 

 
 
TRAINING 

As in previous years, a program of both formal and informal training sessions on the 

use of the Library’s electronic databases, has been conducted by the Library. Such 

training sessions assist Commissioners and Commission staff to gain a better 

understanding of the systems and therefore allow them to gain the maximum benefit 

from resources when conducting their legal research. 

To ensure that Library staff maintain their skills at a consistently high level, they have 

participated in formal training sessions on legal research held in the Library.  

 
NEW DEVELOPMENTS AND RESOURCES 

The Library staff have continued to evaluate and rationalise the Library collection.  

The evaluation resulted in identifying items which were surplus to library needs and 

could be donated. Items including gazettes, law reports and citators have been 

donated to other libraries during the course of the year.  

The Library also undertook a full upgrade of the electronic library catalogue. The 

upgrade was secured at a special reduced cost from the supplier, resulting in a cost 

saving to the Department. The catalogue upgrade will provide a more efficient system 

for library staff to store and maintain the library collection. The new system will also 

provide a more specialised service for Commission and departmental staff, who can 

access the library catalogue and collection via their personal computers. 
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LOOKING FORWARD 
 
The industrial relations environment continues to change and evolve. The Library 
looks forward to a continuing involvement by providing efficient and effective support 
in areas such as research; hard copy and electronic legal reference materials; current 
awareness services and a continuing program of database training to Commissioners 
and staff. 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

CERTIFICATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

 

The accompanying financial statements of the Department of the Registrar, Western 

Australian Industrial Relations Commission have been prepared in compliance with 

the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and 

records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ending 30 

June 2013 and the financial position as at 30 June 2013. 

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render 

the particulars included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate. 

 

 

 

  

Susan Bastian  Licy Mathew  

Accountable Authority    Chief Finance Officer 

9 July 2013 9 July 2013 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

 NOTE 2012/13 2011/12 

COST OF SERVICES  $000 $000 

Expenses    

Employee benefits expense 5 5,383  5,803  

Supplies and services (a) 6 1,520  1,606  

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 239  299  

Accommodation expenses 8 2,872  2,597  

Other expenses 9 269  210  

Total Cost of Services   10,283  10,515  

    

INCOME    

Revenue    

User charges and fees 10 28  46  

Total Revenue  28  46  

    

Total Income other than Income from  
State Government  28  46  

    
    

NET COST OF SERVICES  10,255  10,469  
    

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT 11   

Service appropriation  11,032  11,740  

Services received free of charge  21  20  

Total Income from State Government  11,053  11,760  

    

SURPLUS/(DEFICIT) FOR THE PERIOD  798  1,291  

    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME    

Changes in asset revaluation surplus  -  -  

Total Other Comprehensive Income  -  -  

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE 
PERIOD  798  1,291  

 

See also the ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’  

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2013 

 

 NOTE 2012/13 2011/12 

ASSETS  $000 $000 

Current Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 12 5,769  5,179  

Receivables 13 161  79  

Amounts receivable for services 14 160  180  

Other current assets 15 78  145  

Total Current Assets  6,168  5,583  

    

Non-Current Assets    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16 225  195  

Amounts receivable for services 14 1,148  1,106  

Plant and equipment 17 307  301  

Intangible assets 18 50  93  

Total Non-Current Assets  1,730  1,695  

TOTAL ASSETS  7,898  7,278  

    

LIABILITIES    

Current Liabilities    

Provisions 20 1,752  1,770  

Payables 21 424  570  

Total Current Liabilities  2,176  2,340  

    

Non-Current Liabilities    

Provisions 20 159  173  

Total Non-Current Liabilities  159  173  

TOTAL LIABILITIES  2,335  2,513  

    

NET ASSETS  5,563  4,765  

    

EQUITY 22   

Contributed equity  495  495  

Reserves  19  19  

Accumulated surplus  5,049  4,251  

TOTAL EQUITY  5,563  4,765  

See also ‘Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service’. 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

 

NOTE CONTRIBUTED 
EQUITY 

RESERVES ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS / 

(DEFICIT) 

TOTAL 
EQUITY 

  
$000 $000 $000 $000 

      
Balance at 1 July 2011 22                    495             19                   2,960        3,474  

      
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

 -               -  1,291        1,291  

      

Balance at 30 June 
2012 

                    495             19                   4,251        4,765  

      
      
Balance at 1 July 2012                     495             19                   4,251        4,765  

      
Total comprehensive 
income for the year 

                         -                -                      798           798  

      

Balance at 30 June 
2013 

                    495             19                   5,049        5,563  

 

 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

 NOTE 2012/13 2011/12 

  $000 $000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT    

Service appropriations                10,830                11,506  

Holding account drawdowns                      180                      160  

Net cash provided by State Government                11,010                11,666  

    

Utilised as follows:    

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    

Payments    

Employee benefits   (5,409)  (5,933) 

Supplies and services   (1,404)  (1,667) 

Accommodation   (3,154)  (2,334) 

GST payments on purchases   (508)  (453) 

Other payments   (233)  (135) 

    

Receipts    

User charges and fees                        28                        46  

Other receipts                           -                           -  

GST receipts on sales                        18                        33  

GST receipts from taxation authority                      474                      419  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 23 (b)  (10,188)  (10,024) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    

Purchase of non-current physical assets   (202)  (143) 

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets                           -                           -  

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   (202)  (143) 

    

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
    

Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities                           -                           -  

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                      620  1,499  

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  5,374  3,875  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
PERIOD 23 (a) 5,994  5,374  

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  
SCHEDULE OF INCOME AND EXPENSES BY SERVICE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 201 3 

 

 

SUPPORT TO THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN 
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION 

AND INDUSTRIAL MAGISTRATES COURT 

CONCILIATION AND ARBITRATION BY 
THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN 

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION 
TOTAL 

  2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
COST OF SERVICES           

Expenses          

Employee benefits expense 2,402  2,722  2,981  3,081  5,383  5,803  

Supplies and services 531  588  989  1,018  1,520  1,606  

Depreciation and amortisation expense 167  227  72  72  239  299  

Accommodation expenses 1,149  1,039  1,723  1,558  2,872  2,597  

Other expenses 152  119  117  91  269  210  

Total Cost of Services 4,401  4,695  5,882  5,820  10,283  10,515  
              

Income            

User charges and fees 28  46  -  -  28  46  

Gain on disposal of non-current assets -  -  -  -  -  -  

Total Income other than Income from 
State Government 28  46  -  -  28  46  

              

NET COST OF SERVICES 4,373  4,649  5,882  5,820  10,255  10,469  

              

INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT          

Service appropriations 5,155  5,748  5,877  5,992  11,032  11,740  

Services received free of charge 2  2  19  18  21  20  

TOTAL INCOME FROM STATE 
GOVERNMENT 

                       
5,157  

                        
5,750  

                      
5,896  

                      
6,010  

              
11,053  

              
11,760  

         

SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD 784  1,101  14  190  798  1,291  
 

The Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Comprehensive Income and accompanying notes. 
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DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  
SCHEDULE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY SERVICE AS AT 30 JUNE 201 3 

 

  

SUPPORT TO THE WESTERN 
AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 

COMMISSION AND INDUSTRIAL 
MAGISTRATES COURT 

CONCILIATION AND ARBITRATION 
BY THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN 

INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS 
COMMISSION 

TOTAL 

  2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 2012/13 2011/12 
  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

ASSETS            

Current assets 
                          

2,882  
                          

2,798  
                    

3,286  
                    

2,785  
                        

6,168  
                        

5,583  

Non-current assets 
                          

1,553  
                          

1,457  
                        

177  
                        

238  
                        

1,730  
                        

1,695  

Total Assets 
                          

4,435  
                          

4,255  
                    

3,463  
                    

3,023  
                        

7,898  
                        

7,278  

             

LIABILITIES           

Current liabilities 
                             

887  
                             

960  
                    

1,289  
                    

1,380  
                        

2,176  
                        

2,340  

Non-current liabilities 
                             

127  
                             

157  
                          

32  
                          

16  
                           

159  
                           

173  

Total Liabilities 
                          

1,014  
                          

1,117  
                    

1,321  
                    

1,396  
                        

2,335  
                        

2,513  

             

NET ASSETS 
                          

3,421  
                          

3,138  
                    

2,142  
                    

1,627  
                        

5,563  
                        

4,765  

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Financial Position and accompanying notes.
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  
SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNT APPROPRIATIONS AND 

INCOME ESTIMATES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 
 

  2012/13 2012/13   2012/13 2011/12   

  ESTIMATE ACTUAL VARIANCE ACTUAL ACTUAL VARIANCE 

  $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

Delivery Services           
Item 66 Net amount appropriated to 
deliver services         9,248  8,976   (272) 8,976  9,230   (254) 

Amount Authorised by Other Statutes       

- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975         2,319  2,056   (263) 2,056  2,510   (454) 

Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services 11,567  11,032   (535) 11,032  11,740   (708) 

GRAND TOTAL  11,567  11,032   (535) 11,032  11,740   (708) 

            

Details of Expenses by Services           
Support to the WAIRC and Industrial 
Magistrates Court         5,888  

        
4,401  

        
(1,487) 

           
4,401  

           
4,695  

            
(294) 

Conciliation and Arbitration by the 
WAIRC         6,150  

        
5,882  

            
(268) 

           
5,882  

           
5,820  

                 
62  

Total Cost of Services       12,038  
      

10,283  
        

(1,755) 
        

10,283  
        

10,515  
            

(232) 

Less total income 
            

(80) 
            

(28) 
                 

52  
              

(28) 
              

(46) 
                 

18  

Net Cost of Services       11,958  
      

10,255  
        

(1,703) 
        

10,255  
        

10,469  
            

(214) 

Adjustments          (391) 
            

777  
           

1,168  
              

777  
           

1,271  
            

(494) 

Total appropriations provided to 
deliver services       11,567  

      
11,032  

            
(535) 

        
11,032  

        
11,740  

            
(708) 

            

Capital Expenditure            
Purchase of non-current physical 
assets 

            
180  

            
202  

                 
22  

              
202  

              
143  

                 
59  

Adjustments for other funding sources          (180) 
         

(202) 
              

(22) 
            

(202) 
            

(143) 
               

(59) 

Capital appropriations                  -  
                 

-  
                    

-  
                    

-  
                    

-  
                    

-  

            

DETAILS OF INCOME ESTIMATES           
Income disclosed as Administered 
Income                  -  

                 
-  

                    
-  

                    
-  

                    
-  

                    
-  

 

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, 

payables and superannuation. 

Note 25 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates 

and actual results for 2013 and between the actual results for 2012 and 2013. 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 
1.  Australian Accounting Standards      

         

General         
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  The term ‘Australian Accounting Standards’ 
includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(AASB). 

The Department has adopted any applicable new and revised Australian Accounting Standards 
from their operative dates. 

         

Early adoption of standards       
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by Treasurer’s Instruction (TI) 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards 
and Other Pronouncements.  There has been no early adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or amended (but not operative) by the Department for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2013. 

         

2.  Summary of significant accounting policies     

         

(a)  General Statement       

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as 
applied by the Treasurer’s Instructions.  Several of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 
         

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s Instructions impose legislative provisions 
that govern the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB. 
         

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in 
the notes to the financial statements. 
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DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 (b) Basis of preparation       

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention, except for Artworks which have been measured at fair value. 

         

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been 
consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated.  

         

The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the 
nearest thousand dollars ($000). 
         

Note 3 'Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies' discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process of applying the Department's accounting 
policies resulting in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the financial 
statement. 
         

(c) Reporting Entity        

The reporting entity comprises the Department and there are no Related Bodies. 
         

The Department's mission is to support the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission 
to provide our community with a means of preventing and resolving conflict in respect to 
industrial matters.  
         

The Department is funded by Parliamentary appropriations. The financial statements 
encompass all funds through which the Department controls resources to carry on its functions. 

         

Services (Outputs)        

The Department provides the following services:    
         

Service 1: Support to the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission and Industrial 
Magistrates Court 
         

To provide effective and efficient support to the Commission, allowing the tribunal to provide 
the community with an efficient means of preventing or resolving industrial relations matters.  
This output includes the provision of services and support to the Industrial Magistrates Court. 
         

Service 2: Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western Australian Industrial Relations 
Commission 
         

This service relates to the activities of the Commission. The Commission provides processes for 
dealing with the prevention and resolution of conflict in respect of industrial matters. The 
Commission relies on the Department of the Registrar to manage its financial affairs but is not 
subject to any form of operational control by the Department of the Registrar and acts 
independently. 
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 (d) Contributed Equity        

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities requires transfers in the nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by the Government (the owner) 
as contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have been designated as 
contributions by owners by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public 
Sector Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity.  

The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers 
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. 

         

(e) Income         
         

Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable.  
Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

         

User Fees and Charges 

Revenue is recognised when the transaction or event giving rise to the revenue occurs. 

         

Service Appropriations 

Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in the period in which the 
Department gains control of the appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of 
appropriated funds at the time those funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account 
or credited to ‘Amounts receivable for services’ (holding account) held at Treasury.  See note 11 
‘Income from State Government’ for further details. 

         

Net Appropriation Determination 

The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed receipts to be retained for 
services under the control of the Department.  In accordance with the determination specified 
in the 2012-13 Budget Statements, the Department retained $520,000 in 2013 ($498,000 in 
2012) from the following: 

         proceeds from fees and charges      

         other departmental revenue including GST input credits and GST receipts on sales
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Gains          

Realised or unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis.  These include gains arising 
on the disposal of non-current assets and some revaluations of non-current assets. 

         

(f)  Plant and equipment        

         

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Items of plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of 
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of plant and equipment 
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  
         

Initial recognition and measurement 

All items of plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.  For items of plant and 
equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, the cost is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition. 
         

Subsequent measurement 

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the 
measurement of artworks and historical cost for all other plant and equipment.  The 
Department has a policy of revaluing artworks at fair value.  Artworks are revalued every 5 
years.  The revaluation of the Department’s artworks was last undertaken in 2008-09 by an 
independent valuer - Stafford Studios.  All other items of plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

         
Derecognition 

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of plant and equipment, any revaluation surplus 
relating to that asset is retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 

         

Asset revaluation reserve       

The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation 
of non-current assets as described in note 17 ‘Plant and equipment’. 
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Depreciation 

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits.  Depreciation is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are 
reviewed annually.  Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable asset are: 

 Plant and equipment 3 to 5 years    

 Computer equipment 3 to 4 years    

 Furniture and Fittings 4 to 5 years    

         
Artworks controlled by the Department are classified as plant and equipment. They are 
anticipated to have indefinite useful lives.  Their service potential has not, in any material 
sense, been consumed during the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been 
recognised. 
         

(g)  Intangible Assets          

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 

Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and internally generated intangible 
assets costing $5,000 or more are capitalised.  The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful lives.  Costs incurred below these thresholds are immediately 
expensed directly to the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Intangible assets are initially 
recognised at cost.  For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition. The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the 
asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
         
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the 
expected benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  
All intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful life and zero residual 
value.  The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

 Software (a) 3 to 5 years     

 Licences 3 to 5 years     
 (a) Software that is not integral to the operation of related hardware.   

         

Computer Software 

Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as plant and equipment.  
Software that is not an integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset.  
Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in the year of acquisition. 
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Licences         
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses. 

         

(h)  Impairment of Assets       

Plant and equipment, and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the 
end of each reporting period.  Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount and an 
impairment loss is recognised.  As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an asset has 
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value 
less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost. 

         
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life.  Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the 
accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of the 
asset’s future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement 
costs. 
         
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  

         
Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is 
determined by reference to market-based evidence.  Where fair value is determined by 
reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of 
impairment at the end of each reporting period. 

         

(i)  Leases          
The Department has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for premises and 
motor vehicles.  Lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the lease term as 
this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties. 

         

(j) Financial Instruments       

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial instrument: 

         Loans and receivables; and      

         Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.    
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These have been disaggregated into the following classes: 

         Financial Assets        

 Cash and cash equivalents     

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents  

 Receivables       
 Amounts receivable for services    

         Financial Liabilities       

 
Payables 

      
Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value.  

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as 
the effect of discounting is not material. 

         

(k)  Cash and Cash Equivalents       
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash 
and cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

         
(l)  Accrued Salaries        
Accrued salaries (see note 21 ‘Payables’) represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the 
end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year 
end.  The Department considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to its 
fair value. 

         
The accrued salaries suspense account (see note 16 ‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’) 
consists of amounts paid annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial years to 
largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh year when 27 pay days occur instead 
of the normal 26.  No interest is received on this account. 

         

(m)  Amounts Receivable for Services (Holding Account)   
The Department receives funding on an accrual basis.  The appropriations are paid partly in 
cash and partly as an asset (holding account receivable).  The accrued amount receivable is 
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to cover leave entitlements and 
asset replacement.  See note 11 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 14 ’Amounts 
receivable for services’. 
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(n)  Receivables        
Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment).  The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against the allowance account.  The 
allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the Department will not be able to collect the debts.  The carrying amount is equivalent to 
fair value as it is due for settlement within 30 days.  See note 13 ‘Receivables’. 

         

(o)  Payables         
Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the Department becomes obliged to 
make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or services.  The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days.  See note 21 ‘Payables’. 

         

(p)  Provisions         
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period.  See 
note 20 ‘Provisions’. 
         

Provisions - Employee Benefits      
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees’ services up to 
the end of the reporting period. 

         

Annual Leave          

The liability for annual leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the 
liability is settled.  Annual leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement. 

         
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
         
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Department does not 
have an unconditional right to the defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after 
the reporting period. 
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Long Service Leave         
         

The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liability is settled.   

Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be 
paid when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time 
of settlement.   

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and 
salary levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, 
as well as the experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future 
payments are discounted using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the 
Department does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. Pre-conditional and conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non-current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has completed the requisite 
years of service. 
         

Superannuation        
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and other funds administers public 
sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements. Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector 
employees varies according to the commencement and implementation dates. 

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed 
to new members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting.  However, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the Department to GESB 
extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation liability. 

The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or the GSS.  The liabilities for the 
unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributable to members 
who transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the Treasurer.  All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by the Department to the GESB.   
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Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either 
the Pension or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation 
Scheme (WSS).  Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became 
members of the GESB Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, existing members of the 
WSS or GESBS and new employees became able to choose their preferred superannuation 
fund.  The Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other funds on behalf of 
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992.  Contributions to these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Department's liability for superannuation charges in respect of employees who are not 
members of the Pension Scheme or GSS. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is 
recouped from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.  See note 2(q) ‘Superannuation 
Expense’. 

         

Provisions -Other        

Employment On-Costs        
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, are not employee benefits 

and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they 
relate has occurred.  Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ and not 
included as part of the Department’s ‘Employee benefits expense’.  The related liability is 
included in 'Employment on-costs provision'. See note 9 ‘Other Expenses’ and note 20 
‘Provisions’. 

         

(q)  Superannuation Expense       
The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income comprises of 
employer contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent contributions), the WSS, the GESBS, or 
other superannuation fund.  The employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS 
is paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

         
(r)  Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost  
Asset or services received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are 
recognised as income at the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that 
the Department would otherwise pay for. A corresponding expense is recognised for services 
received. Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial Position. 

         
Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed 
under Income from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

         

(s)  Comparative Figures       
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year. 
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3.  Judgements made by management in applying accounting policies  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements.  The Department evaluates these judgements regularly. 

         

Operating lease commitments       

         

The Department has entered into a lease for Accommodation.  The lease relates to building of a 
temporary nature and it has been determined that the lessor retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership.  Accordingly, the lease has been classified as operating 
lease. 
         

         

4.  Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates   

         

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard   

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the Department. 

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Presentation of Items 
of Other Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 
133, 134, 1039 & 1049] 

 

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive 
income on the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to 
profit or loss subsequently (reclassification adjustments). There is no 
financial impact. 
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Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative   

The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically 
permitted by TI 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements’.  Consequently, the Department has not applied early any of the following 
Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may impact the Department.  
Where applicable, the Department plans to apply these standards and interpretations from 
their application date: 
         

        

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2015 

 

This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments.  

         

 

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and 
Transition Disclosures amended the mandatory 
application date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. 
The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014 

 

This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112 
Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities, introducing 
a number of changes to accounting treatments 

 

 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred 
by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-
10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
- Transition Guidance and Other Amendments. The 
Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2014 

 

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments. 

 
         

 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred 
by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-
10. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 
         
AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2014 

 

This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements 
under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 131 Interests in Joint 
Ventures.  

         

 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred 
by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-
10. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 
   
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 Jan 2013 

 

This Standard defines fair value, sets out a 
framework for measuring fair value and requires 
additional disclosures about fair value 
measurements. There is no financial impact. 

 
         
AASB 119 Employee Benefits 1 Jan 2013 

 

This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), 
making changes to the recognition, presentation and 
disclosure requirements.  

 

 

The Department does not have any defined benefit 
plans, and therefore the financial impact will be 
limited to the effect of discounting annual leave and 
long service leave liabilities that were previously 
measured at the undiscounted amounts. 
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014 

 This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

 
         
 Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred 

by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-
10. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 
         
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 Jan 2014 

 This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments 

 
         

 

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred 
by one year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-
10. The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 
         
AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting 

Standards 
1 Jul 2013 

 

This Standard establishes a differential financial 
reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements.  There is no financial 
impact.  

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 
 

 This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary 
disclosures, the circumstances in which they are to 
be included in the general purpose financial 
statements of not-for-profit entities within the GGS. 
The Department will be required to disclose 
additional budgetary information and explanations 
of major variances between actual and budgeted 
amounts, though there is no financial impact. 

1 Jul 2014 
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        Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

         

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB  
1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 
116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 
134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int  2, 
4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052] 

1 Jul 2013 

 

This Standard makes amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations to 
introduce reduced disclosure requirements for 
certain types of entities.  There is no financial 
impact.  

         
AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB  1, 3, 4, 
5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int  2, 5, 
10, 12, 19 & 127] 

1 Jan 2015 

 

This Standard makes consequential amendments to 
other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in 
December 2010.   

 

 

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application 
date of this Standard to 1 January 2015. The 
Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 
AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project 
– Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 101 & 
1054] 

1 Jul 2013 

 

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from 
other Standards and incorporates them in a single 
Standard to achieve convergence between 
Australian and New Zealand Accounting Standards 
for reduced disclosure reporting.  There is no 
financial impact. 
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       Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 2011-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Extending Relief from Consolidation, the Equity 
Method and Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB  127, 128 & 131] 

1 Jul 2013 

 

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, 
the equity method and proportionate consolidation 
by removing the requirement for the consolidated 
financial statements prepared by the ultimate or any 
intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, 
provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer 
and the ultimate or intermediate parent entity 
comply with Australian Accounting Standards or 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements.  There is no financial 
impact. 

 

         

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Consolidation and Joint 
Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 101, 
107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17] 

1 Jan 2013 

 

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes 
arising from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 
127 Separate Financial Statements and AASB 128 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. For 
not-for-profit entities it applies to annual reporting 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The 
Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 
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        Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 13 [AASB  1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 
108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 
132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 & 
1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132] 

1 Jan 2013 

 This Standard replaces the existing definition and 
fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as the result of issuing 
AASB 13 in September 2011.  There is no financial 
impact. 

 

         

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 
101, 124, 134, 1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14] 

1 Jan 2013 

 This Standard makes amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations 
as a result of issuing AASB 119 in September 2011. 
There is limited financial impact. 

 

         

AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising 
from Reduced Disclosure Requirements 

1 Jul 2013 

 This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements for 
AASB 119 (September 2011).  There is no financial 
impact. 
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        Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - 
Fair Value Measurement - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 13, 140 & 141] 

1 Jul 2013 

 This Standard establishes and amends reduced 
disclosure requirements for additional and amended 
disclosures arising from AASB 13 and the 
consequential amendments implemented through 
AASB 2011-8.  There is no financial impact. 

 

  

         
AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132] 

1 Jan 2013 

 This Standard amends the required disclosures in 
AASB 7 to include information that will enable users 
of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the 
effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, 
including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s 
recognised financial assets and recognised financial 
liabilities, on the entity’s financial position. There is 
no financial impact. 

 

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
[AASB 132] 

1 January 2014 

 This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 
to address inconsistencies identified in applying 
some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying 
the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable 
right of set-off” and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net 
settlement. There is no financial impact. 
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        Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle 
[AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2] 

1 January 2013 

 This Standard makes amendments to the Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a 
consequence of the annual improvements process. 
There is no financial impact. 

 

         
AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 

Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition 
Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 
2011-8] 

1 January 2013 

 This Standard amends the mandatory effective date 
of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015. 
Further amendments are also made to 
consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that 
will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to 
consequential amendments arising out of the 
Standards that will still apply from 1 January 2013. 
There is no financial impact. 

 

         
AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 

arising from Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 
7, 12, 101 & 127] 

1 July 2013 

 This Standard adds to or amends the Australian 
Accounting Standards to provide further information 
regarding the differential reporting framework and 
the two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general financial statement. There is no 
financial impact. 
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  Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on / 
after 

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Transition Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 
1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 
119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 
1049, & 2011-7 and Int 12] 

1 January 2013 

 This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and 
related Standards to revise the transition guidance 
relevant to the initial application of those Standards, 
and to clarify the circumstances in which 
adjustments to an entity’s previous accounting for 
its involvement with other entities are required and 
the timing of such adjustments. 

 

 The Standard was issued in December 2012. The 
Department has not yet determined the application 
or the potential impact of the Standard. 

 

AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements and Other 
Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 
2011-4] 

1 July 2013 

 This Standard makes various editorial corrections to 
Australian Accounting Standards – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements (Tier 2). These corrections 
ensure that the Standards reflect decisions of the 
AASB regarding the Tier 2 requirements. 

 

 This Standard also extends the relief from 
consolidation and the equity method (in the new 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards) to 
entities complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards – Reduced Disclosure Requirements. 
There is no financial impact. 
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

5. Employee benefits expense      

Wages and salaries(a)     4,334  4,605  

Superannuation - defined contribution plans(b)   551  548  

Long service leave(c)     185  218  

Annual leave(c)     313  432  

     5,383  5,803  

       
(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax 
component. 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State and Gold State and GESB Super Scheme 
(contributions paid) and other eligible funds. 

(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 
       
Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance are included at note 9 ‘Other 
expenses’.  The employment on-costs liability is included at note 20 ‘Provisions’. 

       

6. Supplies and Services       

Equipment Purchases     79  62  

Court Reporting     114  144  

Communications     139  139  

Repairs and Maintenance     280  379  

Professional Services     365  408  

Consumables     427  351  

Other     116  123  

     1,520  1,606  

       

7. Depreciation and amortisation expense     
Depreciation       

Furniture fixtures and fittings    7  23  

Computer hardware     120  158  

Plant and equipment     61  83  

Total depreciation     188  264  

       

Amortisation       

Computer software     51  35  

Total amortisation     51  35  

Total depreciation and amortisation    239  299  
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

8. Accommodation expenses       

Lease     2260  2042  

Outgoings expense     612  555  

     2,872  2,597  

       

9. Other expenses       

Employment on-cost(a)     269  210  

     269  210  

       
(a)  Includes workers’ compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The on-costs 
liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is included at 
note 20 ‘Provisions’.   Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the provision for leave 
are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 
       

10. User Fees and Charges       

Document Lodgements     15  13  

Transcript Sales     5  4  

Miscellaneous     8  29  

     28  46  

       

       

11. Income from State Government      

Appropriation received during the year:      

Service appropriations(a)     11,032  11,740  
       

Services received free of charge (b)        
Determined on the basis of the following estimates 
provided by agencies    

Department of Finance - Lease Expenses    6  5  

State Solicitors Office - Legal Expense    15  15  

     21  20  
       

     11,053  11,760  

       
(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered.  Appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset).  The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability 
during the year. 
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

 
(b)  Where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, the 
Department recognises revenues equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair 
value of those services that can be reliably measured and which would have been purchased 
if they were not donated, and those fair values shall be recognised as assets or expenses, as 
applicable. Where the contributions of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by 
owners, the Department makes an adjustment direct to equity. 
 

12. Cash and cash equivalents      

Current       

Bank Account     5,768  5,178  

Cash on Hand     1  1  

     5,769  5,179  
       

13. Receivables       

Trade Debtors     90  23  

GST receivable     71  56  

Total current     161  79  
       

See also note 2(n) 'Receivables' 
       

14. Amounts receivable for services      

Current     160  180  

Non-Current     1,148  1,106  

     1,308  1,286  

       

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations (see note 2(m)) ‘Amounts 
receivable for Services (Holding Account)’.  It is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability. 
       

       

15. Other assets       

Prepayments     78  145  

     78  145  

       

16. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents      

Non-current       

Accrued salaries suspense account (a)    225  195  

     225  195  

       
(a)  Amounts held in the suspense account are only to be used for the purpose of meeting the 
27th pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. 
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

17. Plant and equipment       
Plant and Equipment       
At cost     476  476  
Accumulated depreciation      (417)  (356) 

     59  120  

Furniture fixtures and fittings       
At cost     107  107  
Accumulated depreciation      (107)  (100) 

     -  7  

Computer Hardware       
At cost     854  854  
Accumulated depreciation      (806)  (686) 

     48  168  

Artwork       
At Fair Value (a)     6  6  

     6  6  

WIP       
At cost      194  -  

     194  -  

       
Total Non Current Assets     1,637  1,443  
Total Accumulated Depreciation      (1,330)  (1,142) 

Written Down Value     307  301  

       
(a) Artwork is valued every 5 years. A valuation of the Department’s work of art was 
undertaken in 2008-09 by independent valuer Stafford Studios. 
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Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of plant and equipment at the beginning and end of 
the reporting period are set out in the table below:  

       

  

Plant and 
Equipment 

Furniture Computer 
Hardware 

Artwork WIP Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2013       

Carrying amount at start of 
year 

120  7  168  6  -  301  

Additions -  -  -  -  194  194  

Transfers -  -  -  -  -  -  

Disposals -  -  -  -  -  -  

Revaluations -  -  -  -  -  -  

Depreciation  (61)  (7)  (120) -  -   (188) 

Carrying amount at end of 
year 

59  -  48  6  194  307  

              

  
Plant and 

Equipment 
Furniture Computer 

Hardware 
Artwork WIP Total 

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2012       

Carrying amount at start of 
year 

155  30  272  6  -  463  

Additions 48  -  54  -  -  102  

Transfers -  -  -  -  -  -  

Disposals -  -  -  -  -  -  

Revaluations -  -  -  -  -  -  

Depreciation  (83)  (23)  (158) -  -   (264) 

Carrying amount at end of 
year 

120  7  168  6  -  301  
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

18. Intangible assets       

Computer Licences       

At cost     102  94  

Accumulated amortisation      (59)  (21) 

     43  73  

     

  

Computer Software       

At cost     630  630  

Accumulated amortisation      (623)  (610) 

     7  20  

     

  

Total Intangible Assets     732  724  

Total Accumulated Amortisation     (682)  (631) 

Written Down Value     50  93  

     

  

     

  

Reconciliations       

Computer Licences       

Carrying amount at start of year    73  52  

Additions     8  41  

Disposals     -  -  

Amortisation expense      (38)  (20) 

Carrying amount at end of year    43  73  

     

  

Computer Software       

Carrying amount at start of year    20  35  

Additions     -  -  

Disposals     -  -  

Amortisation expense      (13)  (15) 

Carrying amount at end of year    7  20  

     

  

19. Impairment of assets       

     

  

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 
at 30 June 2013. The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite life 
during the reporting period and at the end of the reporting date there were no intangible 
assets not yet available for use.  All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have either been classified 
as assets held for sale or written-off. 
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

20. Provisions       

Current       

Employee benefits provision       

Annual leave(a)     541  669  

Long service leave(b)     1,204  1,095  

     1,745  1,764  

Other provisions       

Employment on-costs(c)     7  6  

     1,752  1,770  

Non-current        
Employee benefits provision       

Long service leave(b)     158  172  

     158  172  
Other provisions       

Employment on-costs(c)     1  1  

     159  173  

       

Total     1,911  1,943  

       
(a)  Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to 
defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities expected to occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  367  382  

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  174  287  

     541  669  

       
(b)  Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities expected to occur as 
follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  417  436  

More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  945  831  

     1,362  1,267  

       
(c)  The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of 
employment on-costs including workers' compensation insurance.  The provision is the 
present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from the 
unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 9 'Other expenses'. 
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

Movement in other provisions      
Movements in each class of provisions during the financial year, other than employee 
benefits, are set out below.  

       
Employment on-cost provision      

Carrying amount at start of year    7  7  

Additional (reversals of) provisions recognised   1  -  

Carrying amount at end of year    8  7  

       

21. Payables       

Trade payables     81  95  

Accrued expenses     239  377  

Accrued salaries     104  98  

Total current     424  570  

       

22. Equity       
       
The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on behalf of the community. 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Department.  The asset 
revaluation surplus represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-
current assets. 

       

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY       

Balance at the start of period     495  495  

Balance at the end of the period    495  495  

       

RESERVES       

Asset revaluation surplus:       

Balance at the start of the period    19  19  

Net revaluation increment:       

 Plant and equipment - Artworks  -  -  

Balance at the end of the period    19  19  

       

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS / (DEFICIT)      

Balance at the start of the period    4,251  2,960  

Result for the period     798  1,291  

Balance at the end of the period    5,049  4,251  

Total Equity at the end of the period    5,563  4,765  
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     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

23. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows      
        

(a) Reconciliation of cash       
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled to 
the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows: 

       

Cash and cash equivalents     5,769  5,179  

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (refer to note 16)  225  195  

     5,994  5,374  

       
(b) Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating 
activities 
       

Net cost of services     
 

(10,255)  (10,469) 
       

Non-cash items:       

Depreciation and amortisation expense    239  299  

Resources received free of charge    21  20  

Net (gain)/loss on sale of plant and equipment   -  -  
       
       

(Increase)/decrease in assets:      

Receivables(c)        (66)  (23) 

Prepayments     67   (41) 
       

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:      

Current payables      (152) 267  

Accrued salaries     6   (69) 

Current provisions      (18)  (23) 

Non-current provisions      (14) 11  

Net GST receipts/(payments)(a)      (16) -  

Change in GST in receivables/payables(b)    -  4  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities   (10,188)  (10,024) 

    #REF!   
(a)  This is the net GST paid/received, i.e. cash transactions.     
(b)  This reverses out the GST in receivables and payables.     
(c)  Note that the Australian Taxation Office (ATO) receivable/payable in respect of GST and 
the receivable/payable in respect of the sale/purchase of non-current assets are not included 
in these items as they do not form part of the reconciling items.  



 

75 

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

     2012/13 2011/12 

     $000 $000 

24. Commitments       

(a) Lease commitments       
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not 
recognised in the financial statements as payables as follows: 

       

Non-Cancellable operating lease commitments     

Not later than 1 year     23  63  

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   -  23  

     23  86  

       
The Department is an occupier of premises in Perth. The Lessee for accommodation leases is 
the Hon. Minister for Finance, with the Department of Finance - Building Management and 
Works responsible for payment for all leases and associated costs to the lessors. The 
Department of the Registrar reimburses the Department of Finance - Building Management 
and Works for lease payments and the cost of outgoings. The accommodation lease effective 
1st July 2012 expires on 30th June 2024. The value of the non-cancellable operating lease for 
which the Hon. Minister for Finance is the lessee and the Department of the Registrar is the 
occupier, is: 

       

Not later than 1 year     3,325  3,161  

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years   15,982  14,397  

Later than 5 years     32,562  33,810  

     51,869  51,368  
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25. Explanatory Statement      

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for income and expense as 
presented in the financial statement titled 'Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriation 
and Income Estimates' are shown below. Significant variations are considered to be those 
greater than 10% and $200,000 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 
    

Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2013    

   2012/13 2012/13   

   Estimate Actual Variance  

   $000 $000 $000  

Item 66 Net amount appropriated to deliver 
services 

                         
9,248  

                    
8,976  

                   
(272) 

   

(1) 
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes     

- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975  2,319  2,056   (263) (2) 

       
(1) Corrective measures introduced by Department of Treasury in 2012/13 reduced funding of 
$618,000 on account of reduction of 6 FTEs. In addition, Treasury advised transfer of 
superannuation of $313,000 of Salaries and Allowances Tribunal (SAT) funding to General 
Appropriations. 

(2) As explained at (1) above, transfer of superannuation of $313,000 included in SAT funding 
to General Appropriations resulted in the reduction in SAT funding. 

Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2012    

   2012/13 2011/12   

   Actual Actual Variance  

   $000 $000 $000  

Item 66 Net amount appropriated to deliver 
services     
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes 8,976  9,230  (254) (3) 

- Salaries and Allowances Act 1975      

   

2,056  2,510  (454) (4) 

(3) Corrective measures introduced by Treasury in 2012/13 reduced funding of $618,000 and 
Treasury adjusted $313,000 of SAT Funding to General Appropriations besides a marginal 
increase of $51,000 in funding. 

(4) As mentioned in (2) above, in 2012/13 superannuation funding of $313,000 was 
transferred to General Appropriation funding. In addition there was SAT escalation of $99,000 
in 2011/12, and SAT funding of $240,000 was provided to fund retirement of the former CEO. 
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Service expenditure       
Significant variances between estimate and actual for 2013  

   2012/13 2012/13   

   Estimate Actual Variance  

   $000 $000 $000  

Support to the WAIRC and Industrial Magistrates 
Court 

                         
5,888  

                    
4,401  

               
(1,487) 

   

(5) 
Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western 
Australian Industrial Relations Commission 

                         
6,150  

                    
5,882  

                   
(268) 

   

(6) 

     
(5) Reduction in funding for 6 Departmental FTEs on account of corrective measures 
necessitated the curtailment of expenditure in Salaries & Wages and general overheads for 
the Department. In addition, the Department recouped expenditure on Accommodation from 
Public Sector Commission and Department of Local Government for housing the St Andrews 
Hostel Inquiry and Canning Inquiry respectively. 
 

(6) Effective management of resources and general overheads has resulted in lower cost of 
deliverables. 
       

       

Significant variances between actual results for 2013 and 2012    
 
   2012/13 2011/12   

   Actual Actual Variance  

   $000 $000 $000  

Support to the WAIRC and Industrial Magistrates 
Court 

 
4,401  

 
4,695 

 
 (294) 

 

(7) 

     

(7) Same as (5) above 

 



 

78 

DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 
DEPARTMENT OF THE REGISTRAR, WESTERN AUSTRALIAN INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS COMMISSION  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

26. Financial Instruments      

       

(a) Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies 

Financial instruments held by the Department are cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash 
and cash equivalents, receivables and payables.  All of the Department’s cash is held in the 
public bank account (non-interest bearing) apart from restricted cash held in a special 
purpose account.  The Department has limited exposure to financial risks.  The Department’s 
overall risk management program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

       

Credit risk       

Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department’s receivables defaulting on 
their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Department.   

       
Credit risk associated with the Department’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account).  For receivables other 
than government, the Department trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties.  
The Department has policies in place to ensure that sales of services are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history.  In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an 
ongoing basis with the result that the Department’s exposure to bad debts is minimal.  At the 
end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk. 

       

Liquidity risk       
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due.  The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course 
of business.  The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including 
drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet its commitments.  
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Market risk       
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments.  The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks. The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk because all 
cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are non-interest bearing and it has no 
borrowings. 
       

(b) Categories of Financial Instruments 

The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are as follows 

    2012/13 2011/12  

    $000 $000  

Financial Assets       

Cash and cash equivalents   5,769  5,179   

Restricted cash and cash equivalents   225  195   

Loans and receivables (a)   1,398  1,309   

       

Financial Liabilities       

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  320  472   

       
(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory 
receivable).  

       

       

(c) Financial Instrument disclosures  

       

Credit risk       
       
The following table details the Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk and ageing 
analysis of financial assets.  The Department’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of 
the reporting period is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown below.  The table 
discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired 
financial assets. The table is based on information provided to senior management of the 
Department.   
       
The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements 
relating to the financial assets it holds. The Department does not have any financial assets 
that are past due and not impaired. 
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Aged Analysis of Financial Assets 
 

    

Carrying 
Amount 

Not past 
due and 

not 
impaired  

2013    $000 $000  
Financial Assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  5,769  5,769   
Restricted Cash and cash equivalents  225  225   

Receivables (a)    90  90   

Amounts receivable for services   1,308  1,308   

    7,392  7,392   

              

       

    

Carrying 
Amount 

Not past 
due and 

not 
impaired  

2012    $000 $000  

Financial Assets     

Cash and cash equivalents  5,179  5,179   

Restricted Cash and cash equivalents  195  195   

Receivables (a)    23  23   

Amounts receivable for services   1,286  1,286   

    6,683  6,683   

       
 (a)    The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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Liquidity risk and interest exposure analysis      

The following table discloses the Department's interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section 
includes interest and principal cash flows. The Department is not exposed to interest rate risk as all financial assets and liabilities are non interest bearing. 

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities 

   Carrying Amount (Non-
interest Bearing) 

Maturity dates 

   Up to 1 month 1-3 months 3 months to 1 year 1-5 years 

2013   $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Financial Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents  5,769  5,769  -    -    -    

Restricted Cash and cash equivalents  225  225  -    -    -    

Receivables 
(a)

   90  90  -    -    -    

Amounts receivable for services  1,308  30  90  40  1,148  

   7,392  6,114  90  40  1,148  

Financial Liabilities        

Payables   320  320  -    -    -    

      320  320  -    -    -    

        
2012        

Financial Assets        

Cash and cash equivalents  5,179  5,179  -      

Restricted Cash and cash equivalents  195  195  -      

Receivables 
(a)

   23  23  -      

Amounts receivable for services  1,286  40  80  60  1,106  

   6,683  5,437  80  60  1,106  

Financial Liabilities        

Payables   472  472  -    -    -    

   472  472  -    -    -    

 (a)    The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).       

Fair Values         
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a 
reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
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    2012/13 2011/12  

27. Remuneration of Senior Officers      

       

Remuneration       

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation and other benefits for the 
financial year, fall within the following bands are: 

 

 $   Nos Nos  

 110,001 – 120,000   - -  

 120,001 – 130,000   2 3  

 140,001 – 150,000   1 -  

 150,001 – 160,000   - -  

 200,001 – 210,000   - 1 * 

 230,001 – 240,000   1 1  

 250,001 – 260,000   - -  

 340,001 – 350,000   - 1 ** 

       

    $000 $000  

Cash remuneration received   614  1,116   
Annual leave and long service leave accruals  6  44   
Other benefits    7  -     

Total Remuneration of Senior Officers   627  1,160   
       
* Includes severance entitlements of $189,411   

** Includes retirement entitlements of $239,395    
       

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Department in respect of 
senior officers.  No senior officers are members of the Pension Scheme. 

 

       

    2012/13 2011/12  

28. Remuneration of Auditor   $000 $000  

       
Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the audit for the current  financial year is as 
follows: 

 

 

       

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and 
performance indicators 38                              37  

 

    38                                   37   

29. Related bodies       

       
The Department of the Registrar, Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission does not have any 
related bodies. 
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30. Affiliated bodies      
      
The Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission (WAIRC) is an affiliated body in that it received 
administrative support of $5,882,000   (2012: $5,820,000) from the Department. The WAIRC is not subject to 
operational control by the Department. 

      
The Department met all the operational expenses from money appropriated to the Department for that 
purpose as identified under the service titled "Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission”. The service provides for the salaries and contingencies of Commission 
Members and their direct support staff and services. Details on the operations of the Commission are 
reported in the Chief Commissioner's Annual Report to the Minister made pursuant to section 16, subsection 
(2)(b) of the Industrial Relations Act 1979. 

      

    2012/13 2011/12 

    $000 $000 

31. Supplementary financial information     
      
(a) Write Offs      
During the financial year $3,294 (2012: $353) of public property was written off the Department’s public 
property register under the authority of:  

The Accountable Authority   3                                      -  

The Minister    -                                      -  

Executive Council    -                                      -  

    3                                      -  

      
(b) Losses through theft, default or other causes   

Losses of public property through theft or default 3                                      -  

Amounts recovered    -                                      -  

    3                                      -  

      
(c) Gifts of Public Property     

Gifts of public property provided by the Department -                                      -  

    -                                      -  

      

32. Contingent liabilities and assets     
      

The Department has no known contingent liabilities or assets.  

       

33.  Events occurring after the end of the reporting period    
      
The Department is not aware of any events occurring after the reporting date that materially affect these 
financial statements. 
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CERTIFICATION OF KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2013 

 

 

I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on proper records, are 

relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the Department of the Registrar, 

Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission’s performance, and fairly 

represent the performance of the Department of the Registrar, Western Australian 

Industrial Relations Commission for the financial year ended 30 June 2013. 

 

 

Susan Bastian 

Accountable Authority 

9 July 2013 

 

. 
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The Department’s mission is:  To support the Western Australian Industrial Relations 

Commission to provide our community with a means of preventing and resolving 

conflict in respect to industrial matters. 

Our Agency level desired outcome: The prevention and resolution of industrial 

relations matters supports the Government goal:  Financial and Economic 

Responsibility. 

 

Government Goal 
Agency Level 

Desired Outcome 
Services 

Key Effectiveness/ 
Efficiency Indicators 

Financial and 

Economic 

Responsibility: 

Responsibly 

managing the 

State’s finances 

through the efficient 

and effective 

delivery of services, 

encouraging 

economic activity 

and reducing 

regulatory burdens 

on the private 

sector. 

The prevention 

and resolution of 

industrial relations 

matters 

 

Service 1:   Support 

to the Western 

Australian Industrial 

Relations 

Commission and 

Industrial Magistrates 

Court. 

 

 

 

 

 

Service 2:   

Conciliation and 

Arbitration by the 

Western Australian 

Industrial Relations 

Commission 

(WAIRC).   

Key Effectiveness 

Indicators 

 Timeliness of services 

 Accuracy and 

relevance of 

documentation and 

information 

 

Key Efficiency 

Indicator  

 Average cost per 

application  

 

N/A 

Service 2 represents the 

activities of the 

independent Court and 

Tribunal. The WAIRC 

relies on the Department 

to manage and report its 

financial affairs, but is 

not subject to any form 

of operational control or 

reporting requirements 

by either the Department 

or Government. The 

Commission reports 

directly to Parliament via 

an annual report by the 

Chief Commissioner. 
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Broadly, high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific 

desired outcomes. Agencies deliver services to achieve these desired outcomes 

which ultimately contribute to meeting the higher level government goals. The table 

on the previous page illustrates the relationship between agency level desired 

outcomes and the government goal it contributes to. The key effectiveness indicators 

measure the extent of impact of the delivery of services on the achievement of 

desired outcomes. The key efficiency indicators monitor the relationship between the 

service delivered and the resources used to produce the service. 

The Department contributes to the Government’s strategic goal by ensuring the 

Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission (“Commission”) has the 

necessary resources to effectively prevent or resolve disputes between employers 

and employees. With an effective and efficient means to resolve employment 

relationship conflicts, the community is able to devote its means of production more 

directly to opportunities for investment and growth leading to greater wealth for 

Western Australians. 
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KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATOR 

Percentage of employers, employees, representatives and Commission 

members satisfied with the service provided by the Department of the Registrar 

in relation to timeliness and accuracy and relevance of information. 

The government requires that there be an effective means for preventing or resolving 

employment disputes between employers and employees. It established the 

Commission for this purpose and the Department of the Registrar is required to 

ensure the Commission has the necessary resources to achieve its purpose. 

The quality of the service provided by the departmental officers significantly affects 

the ability of the Commission to effectively perform its role. The services provided to 

the Commission include registry services, support staff, administrative services and 

infrastructure facilities. 

The quality and efficiency of the services provided by the staff assists or impedes the 

Commission in performing its role. Persons wishing to use the services of the 

Commission seek information from staff as to procedures and processes. This 

information provided must be relevant, accurate and delivered in a timely manner to 

ensure the Commission is able to perform its role more effectively.  

The Department sought feedback from those parties who have dealings with us 

throughout the year using a survey. The survey was conducted through mail outs as 

well as by seeking responses from individuals who attended our office. The purpose 

of the survey was to obtain feedback from external parties on the quality of the 

service we provide. 

The survey sample consisted of 121 parties or persons including individuals, 

representative bodies of employers, employees and government agencies.  Of those 

surveyed, 93 responded. This gives a maximum associated sample error of +/- 4.91 

per cent at the 95 per cent confidence interval. This shows we are 95 per cent 

confident that the sample results are representative of the population within a +/- 4.91 

per cent range. 

The following graphs were compiled from responses to the client surveys. The parties 

were asked to rate our service on a scale of one to five, where five represents an 

excellent level of service and one equates to a poor rating. A rating of five or four was 

considered equivalent to a “Yes” response.  
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TIMELINESS 

 

 

Figure 1 

Timeliness is a key indicator in that it demonstrates that the systems, procedures and 

resources are in place to deliver a reasonable and acceptable service to the 

community. Services must be delivered in a timely manner to meet customer service 

standards but not so as to impede the role of the Commission. 

Our customers were asked to indicate their level of satisfaction with the time taken to 

respond to their needs in all situations, including telephone enquiries, attendance at 

our office and the timely provision of relevant documentation and instructions. 
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ACCURACY AND RELEVANCE 

 

 

Figure 2 

The ability to conduct our business accurately is crucial in enabling the Commission 

to effectively perform its role, so it is imperative that we have the highest standards in 

the accuracy and relevance of our documentation and information provided to our 

customers. Accuracy and relevance of information are key indicators as the 

community relies on this information to assist in the preparation and presentation of 

matters before the Commission.  

Our customers were asked to assess our service for relevance of information 

provided to them and how well this information was explained and presented.  

Customers were asked how accurate and up to date the documentation was and to 

what extent it met their individual requirements.  
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RESULTS FOR TIMELINESS AND ACCURACY AND RELEVANCE 

The survey results for Timeliness (Refer Figure 1) indicate an increase (3%) in the 

level of satisfaction level of our clients. The results for Accuracy and Relevance 

(Refer Figure 2) also indicate a significant increase (6%) in the satisfaction level of 

our clients meeting the target of 90%. 

The Department continues to aim for higher satisfaction levels of our clients with 

ongoing effective training and development of staff. 

 

KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATOR 

Service 1:   Support to the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission 

and Industrial Magistrates Court. 

Service Description: 

To provide effective and efficient support to the Western Australian Industrial 

Relations Commission, allowing that tribunal to provide the community with an 

efficient means of preventing or resolving industrial relations matters. This output 

includes the provision of services and support to the Industrial Magistrates Court. 

For 2012/13, the total cost of this service is $4.401m. In 2011/12 the cost of this 

service was $4.695m. 

The efficiency of this service is measured by the average cost per application 

registered and recorded. 

It is important that the registry services that support the Commission in resolving 

industrial relations matters are provided on a value for money basis. 
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COST PER APPLICATION 

The cost per application is derived by dividing the total cost by the number of 

applications received. This measure is largely determined by legislation and the 

Department has no capacity to influence the number of applications lodged. 

 

Figure 3 

The ongoing changes in Commonwealth legislation since 2006 has impacted the 

number of applications dealt with by the State jurisdiction.   

The decrease in the cost per application for 2012/13 against 2011/12 and the 

2012/13 target is primarily due to the increase in the number of applications received 

during the year as illustrated in the table below, as a consequence of changes in the 

prosecution jurisdiction:  

 Cost of Service 1 Number of 
Applications 

Cost per  
Application 

2011/12 $4.695m 694 $6,765 

2012/13 $4.401m 1057 $4,164 

2012/13 Target $5.888m 740 $7,957 
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Notwithstanding the number of applications received, there has to be a minimum 

level of infrastructure in place to receive and process even a few applications. 

 

NUMBER OF APPLICATIONS RECEIVED 

Figure 4 shows the number of applications received for each reporting period since 

2006/07.  The details of these applications are part of the Annual Report of the Chief 

Commissioner of the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission. 

 

Figure 4 

A total of 1057 applications were received for 2012/13. This was 317 applications 

more than our 2012/13 estimate of 740 and 363 more applications compared to the 

actual number received in 2011/12. 

The number of applications lodged is a reflection of the level of community industrial 

disputation and the Department has no capacity to influence the number of 

applications lodged. 
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Service 2:   Conciliation and Arbitration by the Western Australian Industrial 

Relations Commission. 

This service represents the activities of the Independent Court and Tribunal. 

As defined in section 60 of the Financial Management Act 2006 and Treasurer’s 

Instruction 951, the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission is an 

Affiliated Body of the Department and is serviced by the Department. The 

Commission relies on the Department to manage and report its financial affairs but is 

not subject to any form of operational control or reporting requirements by either the 

Department or Government, as it reports directly to Parliament. Therefore the 

Department does not report on the performance of the Commission and this service. 

 

 

 

 

  



DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

MINISTERIAL DIRECTIVES 

 

94 

No Ministerial directives were received during the financial year.  
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PRICING POLICIES ON SERVICES 

All pricing and costing is undertaken in accordance with Public Sector Commission 

Circulars.  

  

CAPITAL WORKS 

The Capital Investment Plan for the Department outlines the ongoing Information and 

Communication Technology (ICT) Asset replacement program and is based on the 

replacement of assets that are at the end of their useful life. The replacement 

schedule includes computer hardware, including upgrading of servers and 

telecommunications and audio-visual equipment. 

This year’s capital works included procurement of assets for the “state of the art” 

Court infrastructure refurbishment program for existing courts and conference rooms. 

These included upgrade of the CCTV system, BiAmp Tesira video conferencing 

equipment and Control system equipment.  

The new infrastructure will assist the Commission to provide its clients with a more 

streamlined and improved court, communication and data capture service. The 

technology will provide a more effective interface with external parties and facilitate 

bringing parties together when they are unable to attend the Commission’s location in 

Perth, or a matter needs to be brought on urgently. 
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EMPLOYEE PROFILE 

Departmental staff numbers have reduced slightly when compared to the last 

financial year (37). At 30 June 2013, the Department had an active FTE of 33 staff 

and one trainee. The active headcount was 40 staff, 7 of these were temporary or 

contract staff. The reporting statistics do not include the Acting President, Members 

of the WA Industrial Relations Commission and their Associates. The Chief 

Commissioner provides an independent report to the Parliament. 

Table 1 shows the distribution of the staff throughout the Department and table 2 

shows the distribution by gender. 

The Department has continued its objective to manage the workforce by multi skilling 

and cross training across sections so that the demands created by a changing 

environment and static or reducing FTE are more readily met. The Department’s 

team of multi skilled Registry Officers are flexible and can be transferred within 

various functions of Registry Services to cover periods of high demand. 

Table 1 – Distribution of Staff Throughout the Department 

SECTION FTE 2011/2012 2012/2013 

Executive 3 2 

Registry Services/ Records 11 10.6 

Corporate Services 7 8 

Information Technology 5 6 

Library 3 1.4 

Chambers Support 7 5 

Employer Employee Agreements   

Trainees 1 1 

TOTAL 37 34 
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This chart shows the distribution of staff across the Department 

 

 

Table 2 – Permanent and Fixed Term Employees 

PERMANENT AND FIXED TERM EMPLOYEES 

Classification Female Male Total 

 2013 2013 2013 

Full time 17 12 29 

Part time 11 0 11 

Trainee 1 0 1 

 
 
 
STAFF TURNOVER 

Staff turnover for the year reflects the static profile of the Department’s FTE. 

Positions were filled only where there was turnover of staff.  
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EQUITY AND DIVERSITY 
 
The Department is working steadily towards achieving the outcomes identified in our 

Equal Opportunity Employment (EEO) Management Plan. There continues to be a 

strong commitment from senior managers working together with staff to embrace 

equity and diversity outcomes across the Department. Workforce diversity is a 

business imperative and is part of good human resource management practice. An 

inclusive and accepting workplace has benefits for all employees. The EEO 

Management Plan is the foundation for a working environment free from harassment 

and discrimination.  

The Department achieved a 100% response to its Equity and Diversity profiles survey 

of staff and outcomes are shown in the table. 

The Equity and Diversity profiles of staff are shown in the following table. 

 

June 2013 Women 
Culturally 
Diverse 

Background 

People With 
Disabilities 

Indigenous 
Australian 

Youth  
(under 25 yrs) 

Representation 69.2% 12.8% 7.7% 0.0% 5.1% 

 
 
 
TRAINEES 

This year the Department engaged a trainee undertaking studies towards a 

Certificate IV in Business Administration.  
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CAREER AND PERSONAL DEVELOPMENT 
 

The Department has a commitment to developing the capacity and capability of its 

employees. Our strategies include building a skilled, professional and fair workforce 

with the ability to adapt to a changing business environment. The Department’s 

Workforce and Diversity Plan for 2012-2015, sets out clear objectives to manage our 

workforce. The plan assists the Department to achieve the goals established in the 

Strategic Plan. It estimates the future needs and current makeup of the Department’s 

workforce, assesses the gaps and proposes actions to address these needs. 

The Workforce Plan initiatives, together with the identification of development 

opportunities for staff through the Performance Development Program enabled the 

Department to support staff by providing the opportunity to participate in relevant 

learning, training courses, seminars and conferences.  
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CONTRACTS WITH SENIOR OFFICERS  

At the date of reporting, no senior officers, or firms of which Senior officers are 

members, or entities in which Senior Officers have substantial interests, had any 

interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Department other than normal 

contracts of employment of service. 

 

DIRECTORS INDEMNITY INSURANCE  

The Department has Directors and Officers Liability insurance covering Directors and 

Senior Management. Total cost of the premium for the 2012/13 financial year was 

$4,679.59 with Directors and Senior Officers contributing 1% to the premium. The 

insurance was arranged through Riskcover. 

 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY 

Risk management is an integral part of the Department’s operations with a 

management plan that outlines the key risk management strategies, plans and 

procedures.  Additionally, a disaster recovery plan and associated processes have 

been created to mitigate against any major interference to our operational duties. 

The Business Continuity Plan is monitored by our Risk Management Committee and 

is under continual review to ensure we are prepared to continue critical business 

operations should an adverse event occur. Risk Management is tabled at every 

Manager’s meeting to ensure all senior members of staff are kept up to date. 

The Information Technology section of the Department is responsible for 

safeguarding the Office’s business continuity in the event of a disaster. Our business 

continuity plan includes the activation of a backup system in the event of a primary 

system failure.  The offsite data recovery system ensures that all the Department’s 

servers can be accessed and operational in the event of an incident. 

To strengthen our risk management process and policy we have had our Risk 

Management documentation and processes independently reviewed in addition to 

our usual internal audit review to ensure that they reflect current legislation and 

practice. 
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ADVERTISING AND MARKETING EXPENDITURE 

In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the Department of the 

Registrar is required to report on expenditure incurred during the financial year in 

relation to advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling organisations, 

direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations. 

 

Total expenditure for 2012/13 was: 

Type of Expenditure Value 

Advertising Agencies 
Nil 

Market Research Organisations Nil 

Polling Organisations 
Nil 

Direct Mail Organisations Nil 

Media Advertising Organisations 

 

State Law Publisher $1,608.96  
Adcorp Australia $6,328.56 
Specialist News Pty Ltd  $  150.00 
Seek online $  225.00 
WA Newspapers $    99.00 
Fineline Print $1,575.00 
 
 

TOTAL EXPENDITURE   $9,986.52 
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DISABILITY ACCESS AND INCLUSION PLAN  

The Department of the Registrar seeks to provide an inclusive and accessible 

environment for our clients, staff and visitors with disability, in accordance with the 

principles and objectives of the Disability Services Act 1993 (WA).   

During 2012, the Department reviewed its inaugural Disability Access and Inclusion 

Plan (DAIP) and finalised its second DAIP for the period 2013-2018.  

The review of the inaugural DAIP identified the following major achievements:  

 installation of audio induction hearing loops in the courts and at the Registry’s 

public counter. This assistive listening system helps clients’ with hearing 

impairments, to better access and communicate with Departmental staff and 

the Commission 

 improved accessibility information for the Department and the Commission 

has been included within the website. This includes information relating to the 

Department’s Accessibility Officer, accessible parking, toilet facilities disability 

and accessing specialised services such as Auslan interpreters. Accessibility 

information was also improved on the Department’s intranet. 

 building owners were lobbied to ensure major refurbishments undertaken 

within the entry and lobby areas of the building were done so having regard for 

current access standards and building codes. This ultimately contributed to a 

raft of accessibility improvements to the building’s external approaches, 

entries and facilities.   

 the Department’s public library services and facilities were improved for people 

with disability. This included audio versions of court transcripts being made 

available to people with vision impairments and the public computer being 

fitted with a large lettered keyboard.  

The revised DAIP 2013-2018 was approved by the Disability Services Commission in 

early 2013. The DAIP aims to support people with disability by continuing to improve 

access to information, services and facilities. The DAIP identifies strategies and 

initiatives to assist in achieving six outcomes.  

Some of the initiatives implemented during the 2012/13 reporting period included: 

Outcome 1 - People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 

access the services of, and any events organised by, the Department 

and the Commission. 
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 Raised awareness among staff by launching the Department’s revised DAIP 

2013–2018. Staff have been encouraged to familiarise themselves with the 

new DAIP and for new employees, this material is included in the induction 

process.  The DAIP is available on both the Intranet and the Department’s 

website   

 Encouraged multi discipline, cross directorate participation, by inviting all staff 

to nominate for membership to the DAIP Committee  

 The DAIP Committee commenced its schedule of regular bi-monthly meetings  

 Work is currently underway to develop a “Creating Accessible Events” 

Checklist for utilisation by staff and contractors for events undertaken by the 

Department to ensure better access and participation for people with disability. 

 

Outcome 2 - People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 

access the buildings and other facilities of the Department and the 

Commission. 

 Planning and commencement of a major refurbishment program of the 

Industrial Commission’s court and chamber facilities. The program is being 

carried out in accordance with legislative and building standards in relation to 

accessibility. Work is expected to be completed in October 2013 

 Provision on the Department’s intranet and website inviting feedback aimed at 

identifying barriers to accessing the Department’s facilities and services.   

 

Outcome 3 - People with disability receive the same information from the 

Department and the Commission in a format that will enable them to 

access the information as readily as other people are able to access it. 

 Work continued to make information available in alternative formats and that 

information contained within the Department and Commission websites meet 

the requirements of the State Government’s Website Accessibility Policy  

 The Department is reviewing signage to both the building entry and the 

Department’s facilities.  
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Outcome 4 - People with disability receive the same level and quality of service from 

the staff of the Department and the Commission, as other people 

receive. 

 The Department is currently updating its induction program for new 

employees to improve knowledge and awareness of disability access and 

inclusion issues to ensure quality of service to all clients  

 Current investigation into providing Disability Awareness training for all 

employees 

 Introduction of a Language Services Policy that aims to ensure equitable 

access to Department and Commission Services for people who may need 

language assistance. This includes people from culturally and linguistically 

diverse backgrounds and people who are deaf and hearing impaired. 

 

Outcome 5 - People with disability have the same opportunities to make complaints 

to the Department and the Commission.  

The Department offers a range of mechanisms for making a complaint. These are 

available to all members of the community and include written correspondence, 

telephone, email, in person, and internet.  

 

Outcome 6 - People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to 

participate in any public consultation by the Department and the 

Commission.  

In revising the DAIP, part of the consultation process involved seeking feedback from 

any interested people in response to the proposed DAIP using the website as well as 

in the press. There was an open invitation to all members of the public and staff.  
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Outcome 7 (New) 

Recent changes to the Disability Services Act 1993 requiring the introduction of a 
seventh outcome will be incorporated into the Department’s DAIP. This outcome 
relates directly to improving employment opportunities for people with disability and 
how potential barriers to employment will be addressed.  

Outcome 7 states:  

People with disability have the same opportunities as other people to obtain 

and maintain employment within the Department of the Registrar.  

The Department is working to include this outcome in its DAIP and to develop 
appropriate strategies.   

 
  

Specialised equipment to assist visual impaired employees. 
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COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR STANDARDS AND ETHICAL CODES 
 
The Department continues to promote corporate values and high standards of 

personal and professional conduct within the workplace.  Managers and staff are 

required to comply with the Public Sector Standards in Human Resource 

Management, the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the 

Department’s Code of Conduct.  

The Department is committed to creating and maintaining a workplace that supports 

and encourages ethical behavior, actively discouraging potentially corrupt acts and 

dealing with instances of misconduct in a fair and timely manner.  

Measures are in place to ensure that all staff are familiar with the Public Sector Code 

of Ethics, Public Sector Standards, Department’s Code of Conduct and relevant 

Departmental policies. This information is available on the Department’s intranet and 

is regularly promoted to all staff.  

This is an integral aspect of the face to face staff induction program. Information 

covers the expectation of high ethical behaviour, declarations of conflict of interest 

and responsibility for reporting suspected unethical behaviours or actions. All new 

employees are currently required to confirm that they have read, understand and 

commit to the Department’s Code of Conduct. The Code of Conduct, which reflects 

the Public Sector Code of Ethics, provides guidance and interpretation of these 

principles for application in the workplace. A recent initiative is that all employees will 

be required to sign a statement of understanding of the Department’s Code of 

Conduct annually. 

The Department conducted Accountability and Ethical Decision Making training this 

year and all staff were required to attend. The Department’s Code of Conduct was 

used to raise awareness and outline employee responsibilities. 

The Human Resources Manager undertakes a monitoring and advisory role in 

relation to compliance with the Standards.  

During the year, a number of policies were reviewed. Amendments were made to the 

Recruitment and Selection Policy and the Code of Conduct to ensure currency with 

Commissioner’s Instructions. The Code of Conduct was also updated to reflect the 

values and aims of the Strategic Plan 2012 – 2016. 
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New policies were also developed for 

 Discipline Management and Process  

 Personal leave 

 Leave without Pay 

 Secondary Employment 
 

 
COMPLIANCE WITH PUBLIC SECTOR MANAGEMENT ACT 1994 SECTION 31(1) 
 
Public Sector Standards:  No breaches were lodged in 2012/13   

Western Australian Public  
Sector Code of Ethics:  No claims were lodged in 2012/13 
 
Department Code of Conduct  No claims were lodged in 2012/13.  
 

During the year, two matters relating to substandard performance under the Public 

Sector Management Act 1994 Part 5 Section 79 were investigated and 

substantiated. Appropriate action is being undertaken. 

 
PUBLIC INTEREST DISCLOSURE 

The Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003 (PID) facilitates the disclosure of public 

interest information by providing protection for those who make disclosures.  It 

provides for disclosed matters to be investigated and appropriate action to be 

taken.  Disclosures can be made where there is a belief that there is something is 

wrong with the way a government official, public authority or government contractor is 

acting, has acted or may be going to act, which is of public interest. 

The information must be specific to improper conduct, offences under State law, 

unauthorised use or mismanagement of public resources or conduct involving risk to 

public health, public safety or the environment. 

In accordance with the PID Act, the Department has a duly appointed Public Interest 

Disclosure Officer and has published internal policies and procedures relating to its 

obligations.  

No public interest disclosures were received during the 2012/13 reporting year. 
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FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

The Freedom of Information Act 1992 (FOI Act), which came into effect on 1 

November 1993, created a general right of access by the public to documents held 

by State and Local government agencies. The FOI Act requires agencies to make 

available details regarding the information they hold. It also enables persons to 

ensure that personal information about themselves, held by government agencies, is 

“…accurate, complete, up to date and not misleading…”  (see Section 3 Objects and 

intent of the FOI Act). 

The primary function of the Department is to provide administrative support to the 

Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission. As the Commission is a court of 

record, the majority of information held by the Department of the Registrar is 

available for viewing. Therefore, it may not be necessary to make an application 

under the FOI Act to access information. It is recommended that prior to lodging an 

application, an initial contact be made to the Registry Services Manager on 9420 

4412. 

No FOI applications were received during 2012/13. 
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RECORD KEEPING PLAN 

The Department’s Record Keeping Plan (RKP) details the record keeping program 

for the agency including which records are to be created and how those records are 

to be kept. The Department continues to progress its compliance with the State 

Records Act 2000. Measures to ensure compliance with State Records Commission 

Standard 2 Record Keeping Plan (Principle 6 – Compliance) include: 

i. The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s record keeping 

systems is evaluated not less than once every five years. 

Section 19 of the State Records Act 2000 requires all agencies to have an approved 
Record Keeping Plan (RKP) that must be complied with by the organisation and its 
staff.  The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s record keeping plan is 
evaluated not less than once every five years. The Department’s record keeping 
systems are updated as necessary and evaluated for their efficiency and 
effectiveness. In line with Section 28 of the State Records Act 2000, the RKP and 
associated documentation were reviewed and approved by the State Records 
Commission in March 2012. As a consequence of the review, work has progressed 
this year to update and develop various policies and procedures as well as a Disaster 
Plan for records. The Retention and Disposal Schedules are also currently being 
assessed. 

ii. The organisation conducts record keeping training. 

The Department conducts structured record keeping training to ensure that all staff 

have an awareness and understanding of recordkeeping roles and responsibilities. 

Online records awareness training complements the training for all staff. The training 

also forms part of the induction process for all new employees. Staff are provided 

with and have access to relevant publications, policies, procedures and training 

materials via the intranet. Ongoing training and support in Records Management is 

available both on a one on one basis and scheduled training.  

iii. The efficiency and effectiveness of the record keeping training program 

is reviewed periodically 

 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the training program and reference materials is 

regularly reviewed. Feedback from staff who have undertaken the training is used to 

improve training and information.  
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iv. The organisation’s induction program addresses employee roles and 

responsibilities in regard to their compliance with the organisation’s 

recordkeeping plan 

The Department’s induction program includes a 

records training component.  It outlines individual roles 

and responsibilities in regard to compliance with the 

RKP, legislative requirements and the benefits of 

appropriate recordkeeping practices.  The induction 

program also includes the online recordkeeping 

awareness program that all new employees must 

complete. 

Recordkeeping information and handouts are provided 

to new staff and updated as necessary. 

File Records 
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OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY AND HEALTH 

The Chief Executive Officer and managers are committed to maintaining a safe and 

healthy work environment, which promotes the wellbeing of employees and visitors. 

By working together with employees, we are striving to achieve best practice in 

Occupational Safety and Health (OSH), with a focus on continuous improvement. 

The Department is committed to developing a culture of safety awareness at all 

levels of the organisation. To support this, the Department has a current 

Occupational Safety and Health Management system which aligns to legislative 

requirements outlined in the Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 and the Code 

of Practice: Occupational Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector 

2007(the Code). 

The Occupational Safety and Health Management System was developed in 

collaboration with a registered Worksafe Plan Assessor in 2010/2011 and is fully 

implemented and operational. The plan was reviewed this year to ensure currency 

with relevant legislation, regulations and the Code.  

An online health and safety portal on the Department’s Intranet was implemented this 

year which provides links to the entire Occupational Safety and Health Management 

System. It enables employees to easily access health and safety information 

including policies and procedures. It also provides a formal mechanism for 

consultation and communication regarding OSH matters and Hazard and Incident 

reporting. Staff are encouraged to be proactive and identify and report hazards, as 

well as suggest improvement to practices and procedures. 

The OSH Committee meets regularly to discuss and resolve any occupational health 

and safety issues raised across the Department. It provides a cooperative and active 

forum to promote and maintain health, safety and wellbeing in the workplace. To 

ensure effectiveness in their role, Committee members undertake formal OSH 

committee training as part of their induction as a member. Committee members are 

also available to assist staff in the discussion and resolution of occupational safety 

and health issues including: 

 assessment of risks 

 hazard incident reporting 

 managing public access within court and conference room environment 

A recent committee initiative was the standing invitation to employees in the week 
prior to a committee meeting to submit views on safety and health issues in the 
workplace for discussion at the meeting. In this way the committee seeks to engage 
employees in safety matters and work together to improve safety and health 
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outcomes. Meeting minutes are published on the Intranet along with information 
about the membership, role, activities and outcomes of this committee. 

All current supervisors and managers have been trained in occupational safety, 

health and injury management responsibilities over the last three years. The training 

has been provided by accredited occupational safety and health consultants and 

provides the essentials for successful management of safety and health in the 

workplace. The training includes legislative awareness and responsibilities, accident 

and hazard investigation, risk assessment and control, job hazard analysis and 

setting OSH objectives and targets. Refresher training is planned to commence in the 

next year.  

Other Health and Wellbeing initiatives during the year included: 

 The Employee Assistance Program Policy was reviewed and a new EAP 
contractor was engaged. This provided an opportunity to promote to staff the 
benefits and opportunities provided by the EAP Program. 
  

 All new staff are provided with ergonomic assessments of their workstation by 
an external consultant. Existing staff can also have a reassessment. Any 
equipment identified by the consultant is provided to staff to ensure safe and 
comfortable work practices and equipment.. 

 
 Flu vaccinations were offered to staff. 

 
 First Aid Officers were provided with the opportunity to refresh their training 

and to retain their qualification. 
 

INJURY MANAGEMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH WORKERS’ COMPENSATION 
AND INJURY MANAGEMENT ACT 1981 

The Department complies with the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management 

Act 1981. It is committed to providing injury management support to all workers who 

sustain a work related injury or illness, with a focus on a safe and early return to 

meaningful work. 

There is an Injury Management System to support the Injury Management Policy 

framework which outlines the steps to be taken to assist workers affected by these 

circumstances. This involves a combination of specialist assistance from external 

providers and the use of the Return to Work Program and Plans. 

The Injury Management Policy, Injury Management System and the Return to Work 

Program are available on the Department’s intranet.  
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There was one Workers Compensation claim this year, which is being managed 

through a Return to Work Program in collaboration with an external consultant. 

 Actual Results Results against Target  

Measure 
 

2010/11 
(*1) 

 
2012/13 

 

Target Comment 

Number of fatalities  0 0 0  

Lost time injury/disease 

(LTI/D) incidence rate  

0 2.32 0 1 active 

worker’s 

compensation 

claim  

Lost time injury severity rate  0 0 0  

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work:  
 
(i) within 13 weeks 
 
(ii) within 26 weeks  

 

n/a 

n/a 

 

100% 

n/a 

 

Actual result 

to be stated  

 

Percentage of managers 

trained in occupational safety, 

health and injury 

management responsibilities  

80% 100% Greater than 

or equal to 

80% 

 

 
 
Note (*1) This is a three year trend and as such, the year is to be three 

years prior to the current reporting year (i.e current year is 
2012/13 and comparison year is 2010/11). 

 
  



DISCLOSURES AND LEGAL COMPLIANCE 

GOVERNMENT POLICY REQUIREMENTS 

114 

RECONCILIATION ACTION PLAN 

The Department of the Registrar embraces the Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) and 

is committed to reconciliation between Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people 

and other Australians. It is acknowledged that more needs to be done to ensure 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people enjoy the same advantages and 

opportunities as other Australians. 

In 2012, the Department reviewed its inaugural RAP. Using the lessons learned from 
our previous RAP, we revaluated our initial goals and strategies in the context of our 
work and our capacity and refined them to help create the refreshed RAP. It was 
recognised that: 
 

 implementing and maintaining relationships with organisations such as 

Reconciliation Australia and the Department of Aboriginal Affairs was 

paramount to success of the RAP vision to “close the gap”.  

 the Department mutually benefited from ongoing consultations with Aboriginal 

and Torres Strait Islander staff, particularly with respect to understanding 

cultural learning and development.  

 It was important to provide staff with fundamental, basic understandings of 

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander culture, and to allow Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander staff the opportunity to further identify with their culture 

within the workplace.  

A refreshed plan covering the period 2013-to 2017 was developed by the RAP 

Working Group and endorsed by Reconciliation Australia in February 2013. The 

current RAP draws upon the learning identified by the Department’s review and 

commits to implementing a number of new ongoing initiatives, which include:  

 reviewing service delivery to Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander clients via 

consultations with appropriate community groups such as the Aboriginal Legal 

Service, 

 promoting and celebrating National Reconciliation Week and NAIDOC Week 

events, 

 revising new employee induction programs to include more Aboriginal and 

Torres Strait Islander cultural information 

 investigating opportunities to increase Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 

employment opportunities within the Department, including traineeships or 

work experience. 

 



  




